




Attention

This document comprises the Annual Report (“Annual Report”) of Ooredoo Maldives Public Limited 
Company, prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act of the Republic 
of Maldives (Act No.: 10/96), the Maldives Securities Act (Act No.: 2/2006), the Securities (General) 
Regulations 2007, the Securities (Continuing Disclosure Obligations of Issuers) Regulations 2010 
(Regulation No. 2011/R-10), the Corporate Governance Code of the Capital Market Development 
Authority (“CG Code”) and the Listing Rules of the Maldives Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).  

Ooredoo Maldives prepares its financial statements in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards. Unless otherwise indicated, references to a year in this Annual Report refers 
to the Company’s financial year ending 31st December 2017. 

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements that are based on expectations and 
assumptions about the future. Forward looking statements can generally be identified by words 
or phrases such as ‘aim’, ‘anticipate’, ‘believe’, ‘expect’, ‘estimate’, ‘intend’, ‘objective’, ‘plan’, ‘shall’, 
‘will’, ‘will continue’, ‘may’ or any other words or phrases of similar meaning. Similarly, statements 
that describe objectives, plans or goals are also to be considered as forward-looking statements. All 
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about the Company 
that could cause actual results to materially differ from those contemplated by the respective 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements, by their very nature are subject to known 
and unknown risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to materially differ from those 
expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements and hence, undue reliance should not be 
placed on forward-looking statements. 

Unless otherwise stated in this Annual Report, the terms “Ooredoo Maldives”, “Company”, “we”, “us” 
and “our” refers to Ooredoo Maldives Public Limited Company. 
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Introducing Ooredoo 
Maldives

Vision

Enriching people’s lives as a leading international 
communications company.

Mission 

To provide world class, innovative communication 
products and services to the people of, and visitors 
to the Maldives.

Core Values 

Caring 

We will always look to be supportive, respectful 
and responsible. 

Connecting 

We will look to engage with you, working together 
in a collaborative way and involved in the 
communities we operate in. 

Challenging 

We are progressive, we will always look to improve 
and make a difference. 

Our Business 

Ooredoo Maldives launched its telecommunications services on 1st August 
2005 as Wataniya Telecom Maldives Private Limited. We are a member of the 
Ooredoo Group - a leading international telecommunications service provider 
with a customer base of over 164 million spread across 10 countries (as at 31st 
December 2017) delivering mobile, fixed, broadband internet and corporate 
managed services tailored to the needs of consumers and businesses across 
the Middle East, North Africa and South-East Asia.  

The Company changed its legal status to that of a public limited company on 6th 
October 2016 and was accordingly re-registered as Ooredoo Maldives Public 
Limited Company. Wataniya International FZ-LLC holds 90.5% of the issued 
shares of the Company with the remaining 9.5% of the shares being held by the 
public. 

We have a subscriber base of over 430,000 and have achieved strong and 
consistent compound annual growth rates of 15% in subscribers and 27% in 
revenue from 2013 to 2017. Our diverse subscribers include individuals, small to 
medium businesses, large corporate and state institutions.  

Emerging as a new entrant into a monopolised telecommunications services 
industry in 2005, we have revolutionised the telecommunication industry of 
Maldives within less than a decade, by introducing leading edge technologies 
and telecommunication solutions to our valued customers. 

As part of the Ooredoo Group, we are guided by the common vision of 
enriching people’s lives, and uphold the belief that we can stimulate human 
growth by leveraging communications to help people achieve their full 
potential.

As the first operator to launch the first ever and fastest 3G and 4G Networks 
in the Maldives, we remain committed to enriching the lives of Maldivians 
by providing them with the latest advancements of the telecommunications 
industry.
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Chairman’s 
Message 

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it 
gives me great pleasure to present the 
2017 Annual Report of Ooredoo Maldives.

We have achieved robust growth in 2017, 
driven by our strategy of data leadership 
and digital customer experience. An 
unparalleled highlight of 2017 was our 
Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) - the largest 
and the most successful IPO in the 
Maldives, by funds raised.

Supporting a Digital Maldives 
Digital technologies play a vital role 
in connecting communities to new 
opportunities for growth. We remained 
focused on implementing our digital 
strategy, making significant investments 
to ensure a first class network with the 
aim of supporting and enabling the vision 
of a Digital Maldives, and enabled by a 
brand new domestic submarine cable, 
our 4G+ services were made available 
throughout the Maldives. We surpassed 
key milestones in digitizing the business, 
transforming the way we connect with our 
customers. 

Leadership in Data & Innovation
We focused on maintaining our leadership 
in data; through investments in the latest 
mobile technologies, enabling innovative 
digital content through local and 
international partnerships, and increasing 
access to data across the nation, reaching 
new heights in growth and generating 
value for our shareholders. 

Facilitating 
digital 
experiences 
is particularly 
important in 
the Maldives, where 
physical access to customers 
remains constrained due to the 
unique geographical dispersion of local 
communities across 200 inhabited islands. 

Introducing 4G+ to all inhabited islands, 
encompassing communities who live in 
the largest regions to the smallest, was 
a proud moment. We also made notable 
progress in our efforts to expand fixed 
broadband services across the nation.

Enriching Lives through Digital
As a community focused company, 
enriching lives remains at the heart of 
everything we do. Be it empowering   

students through Smart Campus or 
enabling a convenient alternative to 
traditional banking through m-Faisaa, 
our technologies and innovations aim to 
transform the digital lives of customers, 
and lead them towards new opportunities 
for socio-economic development.

We will continue our support towards 
enriching the lives of the people, in close 
alignment with our efforts to power a 
digital nation.

As a community 
focused company, 
enriching lives 
remains at the heart 
of everything we do.
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Sustaining Our Success
As part of our commitment 
to having the right team 
to successfully bring our 
strategies to life, we 
welcomed a new Managing 
Director, Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer in 2017, who brought 
with them a wealth of 
experience from within 
the global telecom & ICT 

industry. We also welcomed 
new leaders from within the 

local telecommunications 
sector to the Executive 

Management of Ooredoo 
Maldives, all of whom along with the 

existing team have played a key role 
in the successful implementation of our 

ambitious strategies. 

We are focused on building a strong 
network of talent across all levels of 
the Company, supported by robust 
recruitment policies and development 
programs. 

Dividends
The Board of Directors is pleased to 
propose a dividend of MVR 3.20 per share 
for the year 2017, which is equivalent to 
85% Group Net Profit.

Board of Directors, Shareholders and 
our Customers
I would like to thank the Board of Directors 
of Ooredoo Maldives, whose efforts have 
greatly contributed to the Company’s 
successful positioning as a market leader 
in digital innovation. 

On behalf of the Ooredoo family, it is also 
an honor to extend my gratitude to our 
shareholders, those who have been with 
us since the beginning and those whom 
we welcomed during the IPO and since, 
your trust and support continues to be the 
driving force behind our achievements. 
I also extend a heartfelt thank you to all 
our customers in the Maldives, as it is 
your passion for new innovations which 
encourages and inspires us to reach new 
heights.

Lastly, yet leading in significance, our 
achievements would not have been 
possible without the passion, dynamism 
and commitment of the team at Ooredoo 
Maldives. I would like to congratulate 
and thank all of them for their fantastic 
performance 

Together, we remain committed to 
achieving our vision of a Digital Maldives 
– to contribute to a more enriched and 
opportunity filled future for everyone. 

Khalid Ibrahim A Al-Mahmoud
Chairman 
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Strategic 
Report

Financial Highlights 
MVR (Millions) 2017 2016 Growth %

Revenue 1,844 1,613 14%

EBITDA 919 813 13%

Profit After Tax 580 491 18%

Earnings per Share (MVR) 3.78 3.23 17%

Free Cash Flow 619 513 21%

Total Assets 3,258 2,595 26%

Current Liabilities 1,796 1,127 59%

Non-current Liabilities 289 468 -38%

Net Assets 1,173 999 17%



2017

Launched Enterprise Network Operations Centre
Launched MyOoredoo App
Completed Nationwide Submarine Cable Project
Launched Fibre to Home at Hulhumale’
Successfully completed the largest IPO in the Maldives, by funds raised

2016

Launched m-Faisaa, the first mobile money app in the Maldives 
Launched Ooredoo SuperNet (Fixed Broadband)
Introductory listing of Ooredoo Maldives on the MSE
Launched the first and only fully nationwide 4G+ coverage
Introduced Satellite Phone Services
Launched Smart Campus

2015
Launched Self-care App
Launched Easy Macro, first in South Asia
Received Internet Service Provider license

2014
Launched Wi-fi Hangout
Successfully tested LTE Advanced 
Launched Resort Solutions
Re-launched Ooredoo Locate

2013 Launched 4G
Re-branding of Wataniya Telecom Maldives Pvt Ltd as Ooredoo Maldives Pvt Ltd

2012 Launched video broadcast over 3G

2011 Introduced Single Ran Towers 
Introduced Pre-paid Broadband

2010 Launched ICT Incubator
Launched wLocate

2009 Launched Wireless Broadband

2008 Inaugurated 1st 3.5 HSDPA network 
Launched 3G

2007 Launched SMS based information services

2006 Launched MVPN

2005 2nd GSM – WTM Established

Our 
Road to 
Success
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Strategic Direction

Digital Maldives

As we embark on bringing transformational opportunities 
to the local community, our core focus currently is on Digital 
Transformation in enriching lives and keeping customers 
connected while keeping the Company ahead of the digital curve. 

Our vision of Digital Maldives is highly inclusive and envisions 
broadband access through our wide spread of 4G to every island, 
in every home especially the remote and thinly populated islands 
of the Maldives, as well as enabling organisation wide digital 
transformation. 

We are prioritising adoption of digital platforms to enhance 
customer engagements and their overall experience to ensure 
customer satisfaction. As such, we have rolled out solutions 
which are part of our vision to transform into Digital Maldives 
such as Salesforce Service Cloud (360-degree view of customer 
information), release of Mobile App which transforms the Self-
Service App to Lifestyle App.

Core Competencies 

Brand Equity 

The strength of Ooredoo as a globally recognized brand with 
its brand equity valued at an astounding US$ 3.1 billion by the 
world’s leading branded business valuation firm Brand Finance 
in 2017, is a key asset to the Company. Since the launch of the 
Ooredoo brand in 2013, Ooredoo Maldives has undergone 
a major modernisation process which included significant 
investments in network advancement, customer service revamps 
and enhancement of digital content. 

Leadership Team with Strong Expertise

We are led by qualified telecommunications experts with 
extensive experience across the world. The depth and breadth 
of experience possessed by the leadership team has been a 
vital element in engineering the Company’s successful growth 
trajectory. The strong leadership is complemented by a 
remarkably energetic and young workforce on the ground. 

Innovation Leadership

We have developed a tradition of being the first in the Maldives to 
introduce several state-of-the-art telecommunications products. 
Our new products in 2017 includes the provision of content 
services due to the rapidly growing need for such services 
among telecommunications consumers globally and locally. We 
partnered with several content providers in the areas of music, 
fitness, sports and popular celebrity news. One of the centre 

points in delivering such content services is the MyOoredoo 
mobile application – a first of its kind in the Maldives. Ooredoo 
Next was launched during the year, providing a digital customer 
engagement platform and a one-stop-shop for our products and 
promotions.

Superior Data Connectivity 

Our superior data connectivity acts as a unique selling 
proposition leading to significant growth in new subscriber 
acquisitions. Our successful completion of nationwide 4G+ 
coverage and the improved network coverage enabled the 
provision of an enhanced data experience and higher quality of 
service to customers, strengthening our position in the market. 

Superior ICT Solutions Provider 

Keeping customer needs at the heart of our business, we offer 
a broad range of cloud services to address the storage and 
security needs of corporate customers. Our hosted solutions 
and managed services are also aimed at providing corporate 
customers the ability to focus on their businesses whilst using 
our capabilities and technological infrastructure to take care 
of all their ICT needs as a total solutions provider. Ooredoo 
Maldives provides innovative workgroup solutions to both 
private and public sector organisations through facilitating 
business communications and improving productivity and cost 
effectiveness. With the launch of these products and services, our 
corporate customers have grown rapidly, affirming our position 
as a superior ICT solutions provider. 

Customer-Centric Products 

We have adopted a more customer-driven strategy in order to 
offer superior services and products to our diverse customers. 
We continuously strive to provide our customers with value 
added products and services based on their specific needs. 
We have unique products specifically designed for different 
segments including the digital savvy youth population, the 
expatriate population, and people living on urban as well as 
remote islands. 
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Brand Building Initiatives 

Nationwide 4G+ Campaign 

We carried out a nationwide campaign in 2017 following the 
launch of NaSCOM, our Nationwide Submarine Cable and 
subsequent launch of the only countrywide 4G+ network. The 
campaign aimed to create awareness on this major milestone for 
the Company and the excellent connectivity available throughout 
the Maldives. The campaign also played a key role in upgrading 
customers to 4G SIMS. 

Going Public

Providing opportunities for community participation and 
contribution as a key focus area, we provided the opportunity for 
the public to invest in the Company through an IPO  during the 
second quarter of 2017, where shares were offered to the public 
including institutions and foreign investors. 

After successfully concluding the largest IPO in the Maldives 
by funds raised, Ooredoo Maldives raised a staggering MVR 
421,357,800 from the subscription for 14,045,260 shares or 9.5% 
of the total issued and paid up shares. The IPO attracted 8,257 
investors achieving one of the largest ever shareholder bases for 
a Maldivian listed entity. 

Ooredoo Maldives has not only played a vital role in driving 
the telecommunications industry in the Maldives but has also 
transformed the capital market of the country. The capital market 
achieved a milestone with high participation from local investors 
in our landmark IPO where approximately 73% of investors were 
first-timers. Ooredoo Maldives is also one of the largest listed 
companies in the Maldives and one of the entities with the largest 
free float adjusted market capitalization on the MSE. 

Our successful IPO was conducted through a nationwide 
campaign with heavy presence on digital media, local road shows 
held in densely populated areas across 20 atolls in the Maldives, 
and the publicizing of our success story across all communication 
channels. 

Color Run

Ooredoo Color Run was successfully held in 2017, with a lot of 
color, a lot of fun and a record-breaking number of runners 
taking part in the fun-filled 5K. Ooredoo Color Run is aimed at 
promoting running as a fun community activity for everyone to 
work towards a healthy and active lifestyle.

Milestones Achieved in 2017 

Quarter 2

Implemented Salesforce Service Cloud 
(360° view of customer information)
Released APP++ transforming the Self-Service App to a 
Lifestyle App
Launched several Business Support initiatives 
including P2P and Supernet

Quarter 4

Quarter 3

Quarter 1

Completed official listing on the MSE
Opening of Club Premier Lounge 
Launched Ooredoo Next – a digital customer engagement 
platform
Launched Magey Plan – a digital customer engagement 
platform
Launched Faseyha Broadband – high speed mobile 
broadband in Maldives

Concluded the largest ever IPO in the Maldives, by funds 
raised
Completed NaSCOM project
Expanded nationwide LTE+ coverage from 47% to 99%
Completed Hulhumale’ FTTX project (fibre broadband 
internet connectivity)
Completed Smart Office & Home Solution project under 
Smart City initiative

Launched Enterprise Service Center
Launched Video content partner (Spuul) and EROS Now
Completed Nationwide 4G+ Coverage
Partnered with taxi centers for m-Faisaa payment service
Launched Shemaroo – Lifestyle content
Launched Pre IPO-Campaign (What Do Ooredoo)

2

1

3

4
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Product & Service Launches in 2017 

• Mobile Devices: Launched iPhone 8 and X, Samsung S8 
and Huawei P10 with bundled prepaid and postpaid data 
products

• Local content partnership: Exclusive launch of SunPlay

• Data Magey Plan: A digital platform where the user can 
design their own plan just the way they love, right from 
their smartphone or web portal

• Nationwide Faseyha HBB product: Launched nationwide 
WTTx Faseyha broadband product targeting the home 
segment connecting all inhabited islands with superior 
internet connectivity 

• SuperNet expansion: Fixed broadband Service launched 
in HDh. Kulhudhuffushi on a local partner infrastructure

• Ooredoo Next: Launched the digital customer 
engagement platform enabling one click customer 
queries and instant access to new products and 
promotions 

• Gaming App: Launched gaming app portal with 
subscriptions

• Local Music App: Launched local music app in partnership 
with local content partner Lavafoshi 

• Price Revamps: Prices revamped across Prepaid Plans, 
Mix Plans and IDD to give a much more streamlined 
experience to end consumers 

Awards and Industry Recognition in 2017 

• Bronze Stevie International Business Award: Most 
Innovative Company of the Year (<2,500 employees)

• Bronze Stevie International Business Award: m-Faisaa 
for the Best New Product/Service of the Year (Payments 
Solutions)

• Global Telecom Business Award for Enterprise Service 
Innovation: Ooredoo Smart Campus

• Shortlisted for Glomo Award (m4Education): Ooredoo 
Smart Campus

• Maldives Inland Revenue Authority “Ranlaari” Award 2017: 
in the category of Withholding Tax, for taxpayers who pay 
the highest amount of tax and pay on time 

2 0



2 1



Our Reach 

Customer Base 
We have achieved strong and consistent 
growth in subscriber numbers, reaching over 
430,000 subscribers at the end of 2017 with a 
CAGR of 15% over the past 5 years

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

201720162015201420132012
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Our Reach 
Customer Base 
We have achieved strong and 
consistent growth in subscriber 
numbers, reaching over 430,000 
subscribers at the end of 2017 
with a CAGR of 15% over the 
past 5 years.

Haa Alif / 7

Haa Dhaal / 12

Shaviyani / 6

Noonu / 4
Raa / 4

Baa / 4

Lhaviyani / 3

Kaafu / 13

Alif Alif / 3

Alif Dhaal / 5

Dhaalu / 3

Meemu / 2

Thaa / 3

Laamu / 4

Seenu / 5

Gaafu Dhaal / 4

Gnaviyani / 3

Gaafu Alif / 2

Faafu / 1

Customer Touch Points
We have established a 
strong network of offices 
and partners providing 
88 customer touch points 
across the entire country
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Financial Performance 

Building on its successful IPO and financial performance of 2016, 
the Ooredoo Maldives Group delivered another successful year 
in 2017. Following are the financial highlights of the Ooredoo 
Maldives Group’s performance for the year 2017. 

Ooredoo Maldives recorded a revenue growth of 14%, as we 
continued to deliver value to our shareholders and customers. 
During the year we invested in enhancing its technology and 
making the operation and service delivery channels more digital 
& efficient leading to continued increase in performance. 

The Ooredoo Maldives Group achieved an EBITDA increase of 
13%, with an EBITDA margin of 50% (EBITDA as a percentage of 
revenue) in 2017. While operational costs increased in absolute 
terms, the Company’s continuous efforts and investments made 
to improve efficiency of operations, and reducing financing 
costs, PAT margins improved from 30.5% in 2016 to 31.5% in 2017 
with PAT reaching over MVR 580 million in 2017. Hence, Earnings 
Per Share (“EPS”) improved by 17% in 2017 to MVR 3.78 as we 
continue to yield value for our shareholders. Ooredoo Maldives 
therefore proposes a dividend of MVR 3.20 per share for the 
year, which is equivalent to 85% of EPS for 2017. 

MVR (Millions) 2017 2016

Revenue 1,844 1,613

EBITDA 919 813

Profit After Tax 580 491

Earnings per Share (MVR) 3.78 3.23

Free Cash Flow 619 513

Net Assets 1,173 999

REVENUE – MVR 1,844 m [+14%]

Our revenue increased by MVR 231 million in 2017 (14%) mainly 
due to an increase in revenue from mobile and broadband 
income. Growth in customer base and innovative product 
offers focused on customer needs is the primary reason for this 
significant increase in revenue.

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

MVR Millions

1,844

1,613

1,219

874

702

EBITDA – MVR 919 m [+13%]

Despite an increase in operating costs, primarily due to an 
increase in direct cost of service delivery (6%) and personnel cost 
(11%), the Ooredoo Maldives Group achieved an EBITDA growth 
of MVR 106 million, an increase of 13% over 2016. 

 
919

813

513

265

143

2017

MVR Millions

2016

2015

2014

2013

PROFIT AFTER TAX (PAT) – MVR 580 m [+18%]

During the year, there was a reversal of impairment of 
intangible assets relating to the subsidiary company WARF 
Telecom International Pvt Ltd, amounting to over MVR 35 
million. As a result, the Ooredoo Maldives Group experienced 
an extraordinary increase in other income for the year. The 
Ooredoo Maldives Group recorded an increase in profit after 
tax by MVR 89 million (18%) compared to 2016 as the Company 
was able to increase its revenue and manage its costs effectively 
coupled with the increase in other income. Excluding the extra 
ordinary income, the growth in PAT was at 11%.

2017

MVR Millions

2016

2015

2014

2013

580

491

264

79

-106

EARNINGS PER SHARE – MVR 3.78 per share

As a result of the increase in PAT, basic and diluted EPS grew by 
17% to MVR 3.78 during 2017. 

 

2017

2016

3.78

3.23
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DIVIDEND – MVR 3.20 per share

For the financial year 2017, a total dividend of approximately 
MVR 473 million is proposed to be paid to the shareholders (MVR 
3.20 per share). This represents a dividend pay-out ratio of 85% 
of the Ooredoo Maldives Group’s Net Profit and a yield of 9%. 

2017 2016

Earnings Per share 3.78 3.23

Dividend per share 3.20 2.75

Dividend payout ratio (% of PAT) 85% 85%

Dividend Yield 9%

Net Asset Value Per Share 7.94 6.76

ASSETS & ROCE 

At the end of 2017 the Ooredoo Maldives Group’s total asset base 
stood at MVR 3.3 billion with net assets value of MVR 1.2 billion. 
Return on Capital Employed (“ROCE”) for the Ooredoo Maldives 
Group increased from 42% in 2016 to 43% by the end of 2017.  

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013
1,503

767

1,697
831

1,974
1,060

2,595
1,384

3,258
1,544

MVR Millions

Total Assets Capital employed

 CAPITAL INVESTMENT

Total capital investment in 2017 was MVR 242 million in 
network capacity improvements, coverage enhancements and 
expansions. The completion of NaSCOM connecting six landing 
station across the Maldives and improvements to Mobile Data 
coverage by deploying new sites in resorts and other islands, 
will enable the Company to provide high quality customer 
experiences.

FREE CASH FLOW

Free cash flow (cash flow from operating activities less capital 
expenditure) was MVR 619 million for 2017. This is a 21% increase 
from 2016 mainly resulting from increase in earnings and 
efficient working capital management.

SUBSIDIARY PERFORMANCE

WARF Telecom International Private Limited (“WARF”), a 
subsidiary of Ooredoo Maldives, achieved a revenue of MVR 
84.7 million and PAT of MVR 62.8 million during the year, which 
represents an increase of 2% and 66% respectively compared 
to 2016. The improvement in PAT for WARF is primarily a result 
of other income arising from reassessment and reversal of 
impairment losses on intangible assets recognized earlier 
with respect to its capacity rights. WARF’s contribution to the 
Ooredoo Maldives Group’s PAT stood at over 5% in 2017, and its 
net assets of MVR 299 million accounted for approximately 25% 
of the net assets of the Ooredoo Maldives Group. 
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Share Performance

Ownership 

The Company’s IPO was open for subscription from 30th April 2017 to 29th May 2017, selling 14,045,260 shares to the public. The 
shareholdings of the Company are as follows:

Shareholder
Pre IPO Post IPO (as at 31st December 2017)

% No. of Shares % No. of Shares

Wataniya International FZ-LLC 99.99% 147,800,390 90.5% 133,755,130

Public 11 9.5% 14,045,271

Total 147,800,401 147,800,401

Share Trading 

The Company’s shares were officially listed on the MSE and opened for trading on 9th August 2017.    

Highlights

Highest Traded Price MVR 40

Lowest Traded Price MVR 32

Last Traded Price MVR 34

Number of Shares Traded 2,950 shares 

Number of Trades 14 trades 

Weighted Average Traded Price MVR 34

Market Capitalisation MVR 5,025,213,600.00
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Corporate 
Social Responsibility 

Training and Development 

One of the key elements of our human resources strategy is to 
create a robust talent pipeline for our present and future needs. 
As such, HR initiatives in 2017 included upscaling of academic and 
professional qualifications and soft skills development.  

We conducted a total of 31 trainings for 506 participants in 
technical and non-technical areas, during 2017. 

Staff Wellbeing & Entertainment 

We believe that our employees’ wellbeing and entertainment 
are two important aspects that aid in encouraging them 
to thrive at the workplace. In 2017, numerous events were 
organised including the floor decoration competition, IPO Market 
Storm Challenge, National Day, Men’s Day and Women’s Day 
celebrations. Our employees also participated in Club Maldives 
– Women’s category and Inter Office Netball Competition at the 
national level. 

Brigade, inaugurated in 2015 run by our energetic employees, 
held a wide range of activities during the year. Key events held 
in 2017 were the Brigade Mas Race competition, Brigade Chess 
competition, Brigade Sudden Talk competition, Brigade Futsal 
competition, Brigade Olympics and CEO Futsal Cup. 

As part of giving back to our community, Ooredoo Maldives’ 
employees visited the Children’s Orphanage – an annual event, 
where our employees spend a day with children engaging in 
different games and activities. Our employees also participated 
in the JCI Peace Run, an event held annually by JCI Maldives to 
increase public awareness of their motto “Peace is Possible”.

Health & Safety at Work 

We have implemented several policies in 2017, to ensure a 
safe work environment is maintained. The Fault Management 
Policy enables to manage faults (both internal and external) in 
a systematic manner to ensure all reported faults and potential 
issues are being tracked and addressed. This includes any issue 
experienced by employees that has an impact on their daily 
work activities or amenities provided to employees by Ooredoo 
Maldives. The Incident Handling Policy ensures that incidents 
such as theft or any accident causing loss or injury to employees 
are investigated and handled in a definitive manner and 
compensated through insurance. 

Additionally, annual health screening programs are conducted 
which includes the AMDC (Azmi Naeem Medical Centre) health 
check-up program. We also provided Measles & Rubella 
Vaccination to all our employees in 2017. 

In October 2015, Ooredoo Maldives pledged its commitment to the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“Global Goals”), 
which aims to eradicate extreme poverty, improve the lives of people and create an all-round healthier world for tomorrow. These 
are ambitious targets which cannot be achieved without fully leveraging the reach and capabilities of mobile technology. Our CSR/
sustainability policy focuses on these Global Goals and we remain committed to our work in stimulating human growth and contributing 
to the sustainable development of local communities across the nation. 

Our People 

Our employees are an integral part of the overall business, whose strength drives our growth and success. We strive to provide a good 
working environment to our employees while focusing our human capital development initiatives on attracting, training, retaining and 
motivating our employee base. 

We maintain a diverse and multi-cultural pool of employees. The Company has retained the employee turnover rate at a healthy 6% 
since 2016 and at the end of 2017, our total staff strength amounted to 345 of whom 319 (92%) were Maldivians, demonstrating the 
Company’s commitment towards the community and local talent development.  
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Grievance Policy

We have implemented a Grievance Policy which sets out the 
mechanism for employees to raise their concerns. Employees 
may raise a grievance relating to any aspect of their employment 
with the Company. A Grievance Committee is in place which 
reviews and resolves employee grievances. 

Staff Engagement 

We believe that it is significantly important to have an engaged 
workforce that is energized and motivated to perform at their 
peak. For this purpose, employee engagement and feedback 
surveys are routinely carried out by the Company and through 
independent consultants. This aided in implementing necessary 
initiatives such as an Employees’ Communications Forum 
to improve motivation and level of engagement. Through 
this systematic process, we have improved our employment 
engagement score to be global best in class over the years.

Environmental Responsibility 

In 2017, we pledged as a partner for UNDP’s Unite for Climate 
Action initiative with the aim of unlocking a community’s 
potential to respond and manage climate related emergencies 
in the Maldives. As extreme weather and other climate related 
disasters are becoming more frequent and intense, small island 
countries such as the Maldives are the most vulnerable to the 
negative impacts. 

Increase in climate related emergency costs also has an impact 
on the economy which has the potential to cost the country 
millions of dollars per year in the future. UNDP believes that 
empowering the grassroots by establishing and improving 
community skills in addressing climate change related 
emergencies and natural disasters can help to minimize the costs 
of recovery and help in the long run to identify more innovative 
methods to increase community resilience. Ooredoo Maldives 
has pledged support to this campaign by providing funding 
for the Make My Island initiative. This initiative aims to foster 
active citizenship, protect mangroves & wetlands, cultivate best 
practices in water management, protect island climate and 
environment, and protect marine biodiversity, by giving back to 
the community through seed funding.

To further our effort in reducing our carbon footprint we 
launched the “Zero Waste Campaign” in our head office in 2017. 
Under this Campaign, we have replaced 450 tube lights to LED 
panel boards, which lessens energy wastage by 50% to 70%, as 
well as lowers electricity costs. We aim to replace the remaining 
tube lights to LED during 2018. 

Our Community – Enriching 
People’s Lives 

As a community-focused business, we strive to contribute to 
the social and economic development of local communities in 
line with our vision, “Enriching People’s Lives”. We are actively 
committed in supporting the community by investing in people, 
resources and mobile technology to enable the community to 
achieve its full potential. 

Our community initiatives in 2017 focused on 5 Sustainable 
Development Goals (“SDG”s) as follows:

UNDP Smart Cities
SDG #9: Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure
SDG #11: Sustainable Cities & Communities

• Ooredoo Maldives in partnership with UNDP Maldives 
launched the ‘Smart Cities’ Project which aims to offer 
innovative, smart solutions for urban challenges through 
ensuring that the technological solutions introduced in 
Hulhumale’ - the future smart city, remains inclusive and 
accessible to all its population, particularly vulnerable 
groups such as women and youth, people with disabilities 
and the elderly. 

• The first session of the Creativity Café Project focusing 
on Cyber Security, was held on 13th September 2017, to 
discuss the new and substantial risks which comes with 
the virtual and physical infrastructure that makes a smart 
city work, and how to counter these risks. Two additional 
sessions were held in 2017, focusing on Smart Cities & 
Social Governance, including one with guest speaker Ms. 
Paavany Reddy – an international expert of smart cities.

• Under the Smart Cities Project, Community Based 
Theatre (“CBT”) was also used as a platform to gather 
information on issues faced by citizens, and to 
brainstorm ideas for smart solutions that can tackle it. 
Two different performances were held for the public & 
for key institutions such as the Maldives Police Service, 
Hulhumale’ Hospital and Hulhumale’ Development 
Corporation, following a Train the Trainer session 
for volunteers who are interested in CBT. A street 
performance involving youth was also conducted in 
Hulhumale’ to create awareness on “public littering’.

• The “Smart Inclusivity” campaign was launched on the 
International Day of Persons with Disabilities, under the 
Smart Cities Project, to promote inclusivity within Smart 
Cities. The campaign focuses on persons with disabilities 
as both beneficiaries and agents of change, who can 
fast track the process towards inclusive and sustainable 
development. 

Women’s Day Celebrations
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SDG #5: Gender Equality
• On Women’s Day, we collaborated with UN Women to 

host initiatives aimed at breaking gender stereotypes and 
encouraging women to participate in Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Mathematics (“STEM”) related fields.

• A Public Service Announcement (“PSA”) video was created 
featuring three different women highlighting that there 
are no dreams too big or too small for any woman and the 
importance of following their own passion. 

• Ooredoo Maldives & UNDP, together with Falah Pre-
School conducted a social experiment to identify the 
perception of gender roles within young children, inspired 
by a project by MullenLowe Group who allowed us to 
recreate it.  

• Mr. Najib Khan, the CEO of Ooredoo Maldives and 
Ms. Shoko Noda, UNDP Resident Representative in 
the Maldives, met with exceptional women from the 
STEM fields over tea, and discussed the stereotypes 
surrounding women in STEM, the challenges they face 
and how to get more equal representation in this sector. 

Miyaheli Social Innovation Camp
SDG #4: Quality Education
SDG #9: Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure
In September 2017, Ooredoo and UNDP Maldives once again 
partnered for the second Social Innovation Camp, Miyaheli 2017, 
which aims to bring together people, ideas, and tools to create 
social innovations and solutions to pressing social issues. 

• The Camp was opened for all Maldivian Youth aged 18-30 
from the northern atolls of Haa Alif, Haa Dhaal, Shaviyani 
and Noonu. The initial idea stage began in July, calling 
for innovative ideas to promote a peaceful and tolerant 
society, empower women in the political sphere, build 
youth movements and support victims of sexual and 
gender-based violence.

• The 3 top ideas were awarded a grant of US$ 3,000 each 
as seed-funding to prototype their ideas within a 6-8 
month period. 

Support in the face of Nationwide Crisis
SDG #3: Good Health & Well Being

• A signatory to GSMA’s Humanitarian Connectivity Charter, 
Ooredoo Maldives supported the Health Protection 
Agency’s efforts to prevent and control the Influenza 
epidemic in the Maldives. The Company assisted 
awareness efforts through mass messaging, designing 
and printing communication materials, and donated 
preventative materials to health workers.

• We made a financial donation to the Addu City Council, to 
assist in the recovery efforts for the damage caused by 
the tropical cyclone “Roanu”. The money was used by the 
Addu City Council to replace household items which were 
destroyed due to the cyclone.

Millennium Youth Ambassadors Camp #MACC2017
SDG #4: Quality Education

• Ooredoo Maldives partnered with the Regional Alliance 
for Fostering Youth (“RAFY”), to provide technical and 
financial support to the Millennium Youth Ambassadors 
Program. Designed by RAFY’s Capacity Development 
Center (Maldives Development Research Institute) and 
endorsed by the Colombo Leadership Academy (“CLA”), 
the Millennium Youth Ambassadors Program acts as a 
platform to empower youth through intensive leadership 
coaching programs and collaborations with fellow young 
people. 

• Since the launch of the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals in 2015, Ooredoo Maldives has been 
strongly committed to helping Maldives achieve these 
powerful goals. The Millennium Youth Ambassadors 
Program greatly complement the UN’s SDGs, in 
supporting the active interest and involvement of youth in 
nation development. 

• Under the agreement with RAFY, Ooredoo Maldives will 
work to expand the reach of Youth as Millennium Assets 
Series (“YMAS”) to youth across the Maldives, through 
Ooredoo Smart Campus technologies. The Company also 
provides communications support that can assist young 
leaders who participate in the Millennium Youth Leaders 
Camp in achieving their ambitions and provided financial 
support towards the facilitation of the Colombo based 
Millennium Youth Ambassadors Coaching Camp.
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Support to Women on Boards, Outreach Program
SDG #5: Gender Equality

• We provided an initial fund to setup Outreach agents in 
five areas of the nation, for the NGO Women on Boards 
(“WOB”), an initiative led by women dedicated to inspire 
and empower the next generation women of the Maldives 
by unleashing their economic power. The outreach 
segment intends to reach the entire nation by appointing 
an agent to each atoll of our tropical archipelago, who will 
then expand initiatives to their regions. 

Support to Fiyavathi Orphanage
SDG #3: Good Health & Well Being

• Ooredoo Maldives signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with the Ministry of Gender and Family to 
assist the state-run children’s shelter – “Fiyavathi”, which 
includes sponsoring the salaries of two teachers and two 
care workers for Fiyavathi, for a one-year period.

• In August 2017, Ooredoo Maldives partnered with Habeys 
BoduBeru group for an early Eid celebration for the 
children at Fiyavathi. This included a tea, followed by fun 
games and activities for kids and a fun filled Boduberu 
dance party with the children & staff.

Provision of a Hotline for the Family Legal Clinic to enable 
Tele-consultation services
SDG #3: Good Health & Well Being
SDG #5: Gender Equality

• Ooredoo Maldives provided a free hotline service to the 
Family Legal Clinic (“FLC”) – which provides pro bono 
legal consultations and awareness in the areas of family 
law and prevention of domestic violence law, to enable 
teleconsultations, allowing the team to expand their 
services to people across the nation, instead of limiting 
their efforts to Male’. 

Iftar for Expatriate Workers
• In the spirit of Ramadan, Ooredoo Maldives hosted an 

Iftar for expat workers, who are a significant part of our 
community in the capital city. The event also aired a live 
cricket match, which is one of the most popular sports 
among the expat community.

Key Sponsorship Events

• Ooredoo Maldives partnered with the Football Association 
of Maldives (“FAM”) for the 2017 season of the Ooredoo 
Dhivehi Premier League. As a community-focused brand 
which shares a common passion for football with the 
Maldivian community, our continued partnership with 
FAM aims to take football in the Maldives to the next level 
and provide development opportunities for Maldivian 
footballers.

• We were a partner of the Maldives Financial Expo 2017, 
which featured themes such as housing options in Malé 
and Hulhumalé City, assisted payment methods and 
financing schemes.

• The Company was the Telecom Partner for Vacations 
Expo 2017, the first brand represented in the Maldives as 
a travel and tourism show and showcased leading travel 
and tourism services including regional tourism boards, 
airlines, guest houses, excursion providers and more. 

• Ooredoo Maldives was the Telecom Partner for Living 
Expo 2017, an event organized annually since 2013. The 
Living Expo 2017 showcased luxury to affordable home 
options both in the Maldives, as well as abroad. 

• The Company was one of the two main sponsors of 
Mihaaru Awards – a prestigious sports award launched 
by Mihaaru newspaper which recognises and awards 
outstanding Maldivians in various sports.  
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Corporate Governance 
Report

Ooredoo Maldives operates in accordance with the Companies Act of the Republic of Maldives (Act No.: 10/96), the Maldives Securities 
Act (Act No.: 2/2006), the Securities (General) Regulations 2007, the Securities (Continuing Disclosure Obligations of Issuers) Regulations 
2010 (Regulation No. 2011/R-10), the Corporate Governance Code of the Capital Market Development Authority (“CG Code”), the Listing 
Rules of the Maldives Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company. 

The Board of Directors and the management strongly believe that sound corporate governance practices contribute immensely to 
the creation, maintenance and increase of shareholder value. Further, the Board of Directors adhere to strong corporate governance 
principles that are the foundation upon which investor and community trust is built. Corporate Governance (“CG”) is fundamental to a 
company’s competitiveness, growth and sustainability, as such, the Board of Directors value and comprehend the contribution of CG to 
the overall success of the Company. 

Board of Directors

As the governing authority of the Company, the primary role of 
the Board of Directors is to provide leadership to the Company 
within a framework of prudent and effective controls that enable 
risks to be properly assessed and managed. 

The main responsibilities of the Board include: -

• Setting the strategic direction for the Company 

• Ensuring the effective implementation of strategies for 
achieving the Company’s objectives

• Establishing good governance on behalf of all the 
stakeholders, within a comprehensive set of policies 
and processes, which provides a framework to guide the 
activities of the Company with a view to long term success

• Reviewing and approving the Company’s policies, reports 
and accounts  

• Ensuring compliance to all applicable laws, regulations, 
accounting and auditing principles, and internal policies 
of the Company 

• Safeguarding the rights of the Company’s stakeholders 
including its shareholders, employees, customers, 
suppliers and other stakeholders.

• Succession planning of key executives 

The Chairman and the Directors may delegate some of the 
above responsibilities such as developing corporate strategies, 
business and operational plans, budget and reports to the 
Management, for consideration by the Board of Directors. To 
the extent approved by the Board of Directors, implementing 
these strategies, plans and budget may also be delegated to the 
Management. 

Role of the Chairman 

The principal role of the Chairman is to provide leadership to the 
Board of Directors and ensure that they comply with the policies 
of the Company as well as relevant legislation. 

The office of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
are held by different individuals, to ensure that an appropriate 
balance of power and accountability is maintained. 

Role of the CEO

The CEO of the Company is primarily responsible to lead and drive 
the overall direction and management of the Company within the 
guidelines set up the Board of Directors, providing direction and 
leadership for employees to achieve the Company’s philosophy, 
mission, vision, strategy, annual goals and objectives.  
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Board Composition

In compliance with the CG Code, the composition of the Board of Directors as at 31st December 2017 was as follows: 

Type Number of 
Directors Name of Directors Appointed by 

Independent, Non-
Executive Directors

06 Mr. Khalid Ibrahim A Al-Mahmoud Wataniya International FZ-LLC

Dr. A Hamid Mohd A Marafi Wataniya International FZ-LLC       

Mr. Ian Grant Fenton Wataniya International FZ-LLC         

Mr. Khalid Hassan M A Al-Hamadi Wataniya International FZ-LLC

Uza. Dheena Hussain Wataniya International FZ-LLC

Mr. Ahmed Zuhoor General Shareholders

Executive Directors 02 Mr. Najib Khan Wataniya International FZ-LLC                      

Mr. Thavabalan Poobalasingam Wataniya International FZ-LLC

Total 08

Changes to the Board during 2017

• Mr. Salem Mohammed A H Al-Marri resigned from the Board of Directors effective from 26th February 2017

• Mr. Khalid Hassan M A Al-Hamadi was appointed to the Board of Directors effective from 26th February 2017

• Mr. Haroon Shahul Hameed resigned from the Board of Directors effective from 4th April 2017 

• Mr. Khalid Ibrahim A Al-Mahmoud resigned as Managing Director effective from 4th April 2017

• Mr. Vikram Sinha was appointed as the Managing Director effective from 4th April 2017 

• Mr. Najib Mohammed Taqui Khan was appointed to the Board of Directors effective from 4th April 2017

• Mr. Vikram Sinha resigned as the Managing Director and from the Board of Directors effective from 1st October 2017 

• Mr. Khalid Ibrahim A Al-Mahmoud was appointed as the Managing Director effective from 1st October 2017

• Mr. Ahmed Zuhoor was elected to the Board of Directors by the general shareholders on 1st October 2017

• Mr. Ramanathan Sivakumar resigned from the Board of Directors effective from 3rd December 2017

• Mr. Thavabalan Poobalasingam was appointed to the Board of Directors effective from 3rd December 2017
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Board Meetings 

A total of 9 board meetings were held during the year 2017, including one meeting attended only by the Non-Executive Directors. The 
attendance of Directors for the 9 board meetings was as follows:

Current Board Directors

Name Position Meetings Attended

Mr. Khalid Ibrahim A Al-Mahmoud Chairman & Managing Director Attended all 9 board meetings held during the year 2017

Mr. Najib Khan
Chief Executive Office/Executive 
Director

Attended all 6 of the board meetings held for executive 
directors since his appointment to the Board of Directors on 
4th April 2017

Dr. A Hamid Mohd A Marafi Director Attended all 9 board meetings held during the year 2017

Mr. Ian Grant Fenton Director Attended 8 of the board meetings held during the year 2017

Mr. Khalid Hassan M A Al-Hamadi Director
Attended all 8 of the board meetings held in 2017 since his 
appointment to the Board of Directors on 26th February 2017

Uza. Dheena Hussain Director Attended all 9 board meetings held during the year 2017

Mr. Ahmed Zuhoor Director
Attended all  3 board meetings held in 2017 since his 
appointment to the Board of Directors on 1st October 2017

Mr. Thavabalan Poobalasingam
Chief Financial Officer/Executive 
Director

Attended the 1 board meeting held for executive directors 
since his appointment to the Board of Directors on 3rd 
December 2017

Former Board Directors 

Name Position Meetings Attended

Mr. Salem Mohammed A H Al-Marri Director
No board meetings were held prior to his resignation on 26th 
February 2017

Mr. Haroon Shahul Hameed Director
Attended all 2 of the board meetings held in 2017 prior to his 
resignation on 4th April 2017 

Mr. Vikram Sinha
Director and Managing Director 
(4th April 2017 to 1st October 
2017)

Attended all 6 of the board meetings held in 2017 prior to his 
resignation on 1st October 2017

Mr. Ramanathan Sivakumar
Chief Financial Officer/Executive 
Director

Attended all 7 of the board meetings held in 2017 prior to his 
resignation on 3rd December 2017

The Board is vested with complete authority to question the Management and call in expert advice and support as required. All required 
information for Board decisions have been provided by the Management on a timely basis. 

The Company Secretary performs all the compliance functions of the Company and advises the Board and the Management on their 
responsibilities and obligation with regard to legal and regulatory requirements. 
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Key Decisions of the Board of 
Directors in 2017 

• Approved the Audited Financial Statements of 2016

• Approved share consolidation resulting in a par value of 
MVR 10.00 per share and transfer of shares

• Approved dividend declaration for 2016

• Approved leasing of land in Hulhumale’ from the Housing 
Development Corporation for construction of a new office 
building

• Proposed the appointment of KPMG as External Auditors 
of the Company for 2017 to the shareholders

• Approved employee performance bonus and merit 
increment 

• Approved condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements for the period ended 30th June 2017

• Approved the promotion of 2 senior management staff 
to hold Director’s position in the Finance and Sales 
department of the Company as a recognition of local 
talent

• Approved the resignation of Mr. Haroon Shahul Hameed 
from the Board of Directors

• Approved the resignation of Mr. Khalid Ibrahim A Al-
Mahmoud as Managing Director

• Approved the appointment of Mr. Vikram Sinha as 
Managing Director

• Approved the appointment of Mr. Najib Mohammed Taqui 
Khan as the CEO and to the Board of Directors 

• Renewal of annual maintenance contract with Huawei and 
Ericsson

• Approved opening a new bank account with the Bank of 
Maldives PLC for the dividend amount payable for the 
year 2016 to Wataniya International FZ-LLC

• Approved quarterly financial statements, Annual General 
Meeting date and agenda 

• Approved the Company’s Purchasing Policy, Pricing Policy 
and Internal Audit Plan 2018

• Approved the updated Ooredoo Maldives Decision Rights 
Matrix

• Approved the establishment of a combined Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) along with the NRC 
Charter

• Approved the resignation of Mr. Vikram Sinha as the 
Managing Director and from the Board of Directors

• Approved the appointment of Mr. Khalid Ibrahim A Al-
Mahmoud as the Managing Director 

• Approved the resignation of Mr. Ramanathan Sivakumar 
as the CFO and from the Board of Directors 

• Approved the appointment of Mr. Thavabalan 
Poobalasingam as the CFO and to the Board of Directors 

Annual General Meeting 

An Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Ooredoo Maldives 
was held on Sunday, 1st October 2017 at Dharubaaruge 
Rannabandeyri Maalam, Male’, Republic of Maldives. 

The AGM was attended by 699 shareholders, with 202 
shareholders being present in person and another 497 
shareholders being present by proxy. The total number of shares 
represented at the AGM was 136,001,559 or 92% of the voting 
shares. 

The following key resolutions were approved at the AGM: 

• Approval of the audited financial statements for the year 
ended 31st December 2016

• Endorsement of the recommendation of the Board for 
appointment of KPMG as external Auditors for the year 
2017 and their remuneration  

• Election and appointment of Mr. Ahmed Zuhoor to the 
Board of Directors representing the General Shareholders 
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Board Committees

The Company has established the following committees:

(1) the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”); 
and 

(2) the Audit Committee (“Audit Committee”). 

Both the NRC and the Audit Committee work in compliance with a 
written charter approved by the Board of Directors.  

The mandates and activities of the committees are detailed in 
their respective reports. 

Committee Meetings 

The Audit Committee held six (6) meetings during the year 2017. 

The NRC which was established on 1st October 2017, did not 
hold any meetings in 2017 but carried out its work by circular 
resolutions. 

Board and Board Committees 
Evaluation

As the Company was listed on the Maldives Stock Exchange on 
9th August 2017, collective evaluations of the Board and Board 
Committees and individual evaluations of their members will be 
carried out prior to the end of Q2 2018.

The evaluation will thereafter be carried out annually.

Directors’ and Key Executives’ 
Remuneration

The Directors did not receive any emoluments in the form of 
fees, salaries, bonuses and/or profit sharing payments and 
other benefits in kind during 2017. However, Directors were paid 
expenses for attending board meetings.

Based on recommendations of the NRC, the Board of Directors 
has now approved a Remuneration Policy for Board Directors 
which will be presented for ratification at the Annual General 
Meeting and will be implemented thereafter. It is proposed that  
remuneration for Directors be implemented effective from 9th 
August 2017, which was the date of listing of the Company on 
the MSE. The remuneration payable to the Board of Directors 
will be reviewed periodically by the NRC and any changes once 
approved by the Board of Directors will thereafter be submitted 
for ratification by the shareholders at a general meeting. The 
remuneration package for each Director will be determined in 
line with the market rates for comparable roles. 

Remuneration for key executives are determined by the 
NRC based on their roles, responsibilities, scope of work and 
market rates for comparable roles. The competitively attractive 
remuneration package for key executives offered by Ooredoo 
Maldives ensures that top talent is attracted and retained 
within the Company. In this regard, the remuneration package 
comprises of a fixed component and a significant performance-
related component. 

No stock options form part of the remuneration package for any 
of the Directors or key executives. 

A total of MVR 30,750,670.74 was paid as remuneration for key 
executives. The remuneration includes basic salary, allowances & 
variable pay. 

Due to Company policy and the competitive environment 
that we operate in, we will not be disclosing the level and mix 
of remuneration, and individual remunerations paid to key 
executives. 

Directors Shareholdings 

The Directors holding shares in the Company as at 31st December 
2017 were as follows:  

Name No. of Shares

Mr. Najib Khan 5,000

Uza. Dheena Hussain 67,001

Mr. Ahmed Zuhoor 3,330

3 8



Other Directorships held by the Board of Directors 

Name of Director Other Directorships Held 

Mr. Khalid Ibrahim A Al-Mahmoud
Chairman - WARF Telecom International Private Limited, Vice Chairman – Wataniya 
Palestine Mobile Telecommunications Company

Mr. Najib Khan WARF Telecom International Pvt Ltd

Dr. A Hamid Mohd A Marafi No other Directorships

Mr. Ian Grant Fenton
Reserve member – Asiacell & Midya Telecom – Iraq, Advisory Board Member – Asia 
Internet Holding S. a r.l.

Mr. Khalid Hassan M A Al-Hamadi WARF Telecom International Private Limited

Uza. Dheena Hussain

AAPC (Maldives) Pvt Ltd, Centara Maldives Pvt Ltd, Capricer Pvt Ltd, Hukurudhoo 
Investments Pvt Ltd, Jumeirah Management Services (Maldives) Pvt Ltd, Lagoon Assets 
Pvt Ltd, Longna Investments Pvt Ltd, Riu Atoll Pvt Ltd, R.M.L. Leisure Pvt Ltd, Smart 
Energy Systems Pvt Ltd and Timwe Maldives Pvt Ltd

Mr. Ahmed Zuhoor
State Electric Company Limited, Maritech Management Pvt Ltd, Interconsult Associate Pvt 
Ltd, ERALINK Australia Pvt Ltd 

Mr. Thavabalan Poobalasingam No other Directorships 

Code of Conduct and Ethics 

The Company’s Code of Conduct and Ethics which is approved by 
the Board of Directors and is binding on all employees, sets the 
principles and guidelines consistent with our Company policies to 
ensure professionalism and ethical conduct. Our Code of Conduct 
and Ethics govern company-wide decision-making and ensures 
that we remain a good corporate citizen. 

Anti-Corruption

After becoming a signatory to the United Nations Global 
Compact (“UNGC”) in 2012, the Company has implemented 
strict internal policies for anti-corruption, one of the 4 pillars 
of UNGC. In this regard, suppliers and vendors are dealt with 
honesty and integrity, with decisions based on the Company’s 
interest. Our employees are prohibited from taking part in any 
business or trade, which is in conflict with their duties, or with the 
Company’s interest. A suppliers’ Code of Conduct – an initiative 
of the Ooredoo Group, is also signed with regular suppliers by 
Ooredoo Group on behalf of Ooredoo Maldives. Furthermore, 
a Disciplinary Committee is formed to carry out non-biased 
investigations upon any reports of fraud, bribery or corruption.  

Internal Controls

The Company maintains a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard the Company’s assets and shareholders’ interests, 
which is regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors. The Audit 
Committee advises the Board of Directors on the efficiency and 
adequacy of internal control systems and arrangements for risk 
management. 

Internal Audit

The Company’s Internal Audit Department, which reports to the 
Audit Committee carries out internal audits in accordance with 
the approved annual Internal Audit Plan. The Audit Committee 
Report highlights the details of the internal audits carried out 
during 2017. 

External Audit

KPMG was appointed as the External Auditors of the Company 
for the year 2017. The External Auditors were appointed by 
obtaining competitive proposals from qualified service providers, 
with all the proposals being reviewed by the Audit Committee 
and the Board of Directors recommendation on appointment of 
the External Auditors submitted to the AGM for approval by the 
shareholders. 

Communication with Shareholders 

We have established various mechanisms to ensure the delivery 
of timely and accurate information to our shareholders and 
investors, encourage shareholder participation while maintaining 
the requirements of the Securities (Continuing Disclosure 
Obligations of Issuers) Regulations 2010 (Regulation No. 2011/R-
10), the CG Code and the Listing Rules. 

Investors and shareholders have access to quarterly financial 
reports which are published within 30 days of each quarter. 
The Annual Report highlighting the overall performance of 
the financial year is also published within 4 months of the year 
end. These reports are available on our website to ensure 
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that investors and shareholders have access to all material 
information on the Company. 

A dedicated Investor Relations web page provides the most 
up-to-date information on the Company, financial highlights, 
announcements and communications regarding the Company. 
Furthermore, a dedicated Investor Relations team responds to 
queries from shareholders and stakeholders.

The AGM is the primary platform to interact with our 
shareholders, where the Board of Directors and the Management 
address the queries and concerns of shareholders. Prior to the 
AGM, the agenda of the AGM and related documents are shared 
on the website and we also publish the draft minutes of the 
preceding AGM on our website for comments, to ensure that 
shareholder concerns are effectively captured.

Mechanism to Raise Concerns

We have robust mechanisms in place to enable the Management, 
employees, customers and other stakeholders to raise any 
concerns that they may have, whether on a confidential basis or 
otherwise. The Customer Grievance Policy enables customers to 
lodge their complaints via our call centre, email, post, message 
through Facebook, Twitter, Chat service or by visiting any of our 
Ooredoo Experience Centres. 

Our Whistleblowing form made available on our website allows 
any suspected serious misconduct or wrongdoings or any breach 
or suspected breach of law or regulation that may adversely 
impact Ooredoo Maldives to be reported directly to the Head of 
Internal Audit. 

Statutory Fees and Taxes

All fees payable to the relevant authorities including the  annual 
fee, annual listing fee and depository fee have been paid on or 
before the due dates. 

Declaration by the Board of 
Directors

The Board of Directors of Ooredoo Maldives, declare that to the 
best of our knowledge and belief, the information presented in 
this Annual Report is true and accurate and that there are no 
other facts, the omission of which would make any statement 
herein misleading or inaccurate.

As the Directors, we declare that we have discharged our 
responsibilities to the best of our abilities, with every effort taken 
to bring success to the Company while ensuring transparency, 

fairness and diligence in all aspects with the ultimate purpose of 
protecting and promoting shareholder interests. 

The Directors assure that utmost care have been taken to ensure 
compliance with the Companies Act of the Republic of Maldives 
(Act No.: 10/96), the Maldives Securities Act (Act No.: 2/2006), the 
CG Code and the Listing Rules. 

Financial Statements – The consolidated financial statements 
consist of the Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Cash Flow 
Statement, Statement of Changes in Shareholder Equity and 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The financial 
statements for the year ended 31st December 2017 have been 
prepared: 

• In accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards;

• In conformance with applicable laws and regulations;

• To provide information that is true and fair; and

• Certified by the Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, and approved by the Board of 
Directors.

Annual Report – The Annual Report reflects the activities of the 
Company during the past year.

Going Concern and Future Outlook – The Board of Directors 
are confident that the Company possess the resources to carry 
out the business as a going concern and pursue the objectives 
set forth in the its strategic plans. The Board continuously 
endeavours to implement the strategic plans in line with the 
vision of the Company. 

Safeguarding Company’s Assets – The Company continually 
strives to improve the internal controls to safeguard the 
Company’s resources and shareholders’ interest. 

Independent Audit – An independent External Auditor was 
engaged by the Board of Directors to review the financial 
statements. The External Auditor’s unbiased opinion and 
recommendations is welcomed, and the Board of Directors 
endeavours to improve any weaknesses highlighted in the 
Auditor’s report. 

Dividend – The Board of Directors is pleased to propose a 
dividend of MVR 3.20 per share for the year and to present this to 
the shareholders’ for approval at the AGM. 
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Declaration of Interest - The Directors of Ooredoo Maldives confirm that:

• Subject to information disclosed herein, neither the Directors nor any associates had any significant interest, direct or indirect in 
the equity or debt securities of Ooredoo Maldives or subsidiaries or had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the 
Company or its subsidiaries. 

• There were no contracts of significance subsisting, during or at the end of the accounting period in which a Director of Ooredoo 
Maldives or its subsidiaries was materially interested, either directly or indirectly. 

• Except for those disclosed in note 35 of the Audited Financials, there were no substantial or material third party transactions, 
monetary transactions or relationships between the Company and its Directors, the Management, subsidiaries or relatives. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Khalid Ibrahim A Al-Mahmoud  Najib Khan   
Chairman/Managing Director  Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director    
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Report of the 
Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

Composition 

Following the listing of Ooredoo Maldives on the MSE, a 
combined Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) 
was established on 31st October 2017. The NRC is comprised 
of 3 members all of whom are non-executive Directors and 
the majority of whom including the Chairman of the NRC 
are independent as required by the CG Code. The rationale 
for establishing a combined nomination and remuneration 
committee is to improve efficiency.

Members 

Dr. A Hamid Mohd A Marafi (Chairman)

Mr. Khalid Hassan M A Al-Hamadi

Uza. Dheena Hussain

Mandate 

The NRC is responsible for:

(a) making recommendations to the Board and to the 
shareholders on Board appointments after a proper evaluation; 

(b) making recommendations on remuneration packages for the 
Board and the CEO for approval by the Board; 

(c) Review policies with respect to remuneration, pension, 
performance related pay schemes for prior Board approval.  

Meetings and Activities 

The NRC did not hold any meetings in 2017 but carried out its 
work by circular resolutions. The NRC has a separate secretary 
whose duties are outlined in the NRC’s Charter.

Board Appointments 

The Board of Directors comprises of 8 members as stated in 
the Company’s Articles of Association, where 7 Directors are 
appointed by the majority shareholder, Wataniya International 
FZ-LLC and 1 Director is elected by the general shareholders. 

The NRC shortlists the names of applicants for the post of 
Director after evaluating the applications and interviewing 
shortlisted applicants. With the exception of Executive Directors, 

the appointment of all other Directors were submitted for voting 
by the relevant shareholders at the AGM.   

The Board of Directors engages in discussions with 
representatives of the majority shareholder to understand its 
views on the Company. 

Gender Diversity

Ooredoo Maldives adheres to the CG Code and follows best 
practices in achieving gender diversity and promotes and 
ensures that gender diversity is practiced in the organization at 
all levels including the Board of Directors. The Company was one 
of the first GSMA Operator members to endorse the Connected 
Women Commitment initiative focusing on the socio-economic 
benefits of greater inclusion of women at all points in the mobile 
industry from consumer to employee to leaders. As a partner to 
the Connected Women Programme which accelerates growth of 
the female digital economy, we are committed to work in bringing 
significant socio-economic benefits to all women and to the 
mobile eco-system of the Maldives.

Executive Directors Serving Elsewhere

Mr. Najib Khan sits on the board of WARF Telecom International 
Pvt Ltd (“WARF”), a subsidiary of Ooredoo Maldives, for which he 
does not receive any additional remuneration. 

On behalf of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee:

Dr. A Hamid Mohd A Marafi
Chairman, Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
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Report of the Audit 
Committee

Composition 

The Audit Committee is comprised of 3 members all of whom are 
non-executive Directors and the majority of whom including the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee are independent as required by 
the CG Code.

Members Meetings 
Attended 

Mr. Ian Grant Fenton (Chairman) 6/6

Mr. Salem Mohammed A H Al-Marri 0/2

Mr. Haroon Shahul Hameed 2/2

Dr. A Hamid Mohd A Marafi 3/4

Mr. Khalid Hassan M A Al-Hamadi 4/4

Further to the resignation of Mr. Salem Mohammed A H Al-Marri 
and Mr. Haroon Shahul Hameed from the Board of Directors on 
26th February 2017 and 4th April 2017 respectively, Dr. A Hamid 
Mohd A Marafi and Mr. Khalid Hassan M A Al-Hamadi were 
appointed to the Audit Committee.

Mandate 

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling 
its statutory obligations and advises the Board of Directors 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, risk 
management, control and governance processes, ensuring 
the independence and objectivity of internal and external 
audit functions and the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements. 

Meetings

The Audit Committee held 6 meetings during the year. The 
Company’s CEO, CFO, Head of Internal Audit, Enterprise Risk 
Management Champion and a representative from the Ooredoo 
Group’s Internal Audit were invited to all of its meeting held in 
2017. The Company’s External Auditors were also invited to a 
meeting of the Audit Committee to present the Annual Audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and the 
Management Letter. The Audit Committee is mandated to 
meet once, at least, every 3 months. The Audit Committee has 
a separate secretary whose duties are outlined in the Audit 
Committee’s Charter. 

Key Activities

• Reviewed and approved the Quarterly consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Company for 2017, along with 
the related significant accounting and reporting issues 
and submitted them to the Board of Directors

• Reviewed the Annual Audited Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Company for 2016, along with the 
related significant accounting and reporting issues and 
submitted them to the Board of Directors for approval

• Reviewed the financial policies, accounting standards and 
rules and procurement policies and submitted them to 
the Board of Directors

• Approved the Internal Audit Plan, results of Internal Audit 
Risks Assessment and Internal Audit Budget for 2018 and 
submitted them to the Board of Directors

• Approved the 2017 Scorecard for the Internal Audit 
Department

• Reviewed and approved the Internal Audit’ Department’s 
quarterly progress reports of 2017 and submitted it to the 
Board of Directors for their information

• Oversaw the selection of KPMG as External Auditors of the 
Company for the financial year 2017 and submitted this 
recommendation to the Board of Directors for approval

• Reviewed and approved the updated Ooredoo Maldives 
Decision Rights Matrix and submitted it to the Board of 
Directors

• Approved the Ooredoo Maldives Risk Appetite for 2017 
and submitted it to the Board of Directors

• Approved engagement of Ernst & Young for IFRS 15 
Impact Assessment, for January 2018 adoption & 
implementation

• Introduced reporting of both Tax and Legal/Regulatory 
Risk Reporting on a quarterly basis
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External Audit 

The shareholders appointed KPMG as the External Auditors of the Company for the year 2017. As Business Profit Tax Compliance is 
provided by KPMG, the Audit Committee reviewed the services and are satisfied with the objectivity and independence of the External 
Auditor in carrying out the external audit of the Company. 

Internal Audit 

Internal Audit carried out multiple audits during the year in accordance with the approved Internal Audit Plan for 2017. The findings 
of the audits were presented to the Audit Committee in the quarterly Internal Audit progress reports, along with the Management 
comments and Action Plan. The key activities completed by Internal Audit in 2017 were:

• Prepared a risk based Internal Audit plan

• Reviewed and evaluated the operations, corporate governance and internal controls through implementing the approved 
Internal Audit Plan

• Reviewed quarterly Enterprise Risk Management reports of Ooredoo Maldives

• Prepared and submitted the Quarterly Internal Audit progress reports to the Group IA and Audit Committee

• Assisted in appointment of the External Auditors for the Company

In reliance to the activities referred above, the Audit Committee is satisfied with the Company’s internal audit function and the adequacy 
and effectiveness of internal controls established. 

On behalf of the Audit Committee:

Ian Grant Fenton
Chairman, Audit Committee 
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Subsidiary 
Companies

WARF Telecom International Private Limited 

Business Overview

Principal country of operation: Maldives

WARF Telecom International Private Limited (“WARF”) is a 65% owned subsidiary of Ooredoo Maldives. It is the only subsidiary company 
operating under Ooredoo Maldives. WARF’s primary business is providing capacity for international connectivity to telecommunications 
service providers and internet service providers in and out of the Republic of Maldives.

In 2017 WARF had a turnover of MVR 84.7 million and contributed 5% of the operating profit of the Ooredoo Maldives Group.  

Shareholding Structure 

Reliance Communications Ltd (India)

Focus Infocom Pte Ltd

Ooredoo Maldives

65%

20%

15%
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Independent Auditors’ 
Report and 
Financial Statements 2017
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements of Ooredoo Maldives PLC (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiary (together with the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 31st December 
2017 and the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended and 
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information set out in pages 50 to 90.

Opinion - Group
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st 
December 2017 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Opinion - Company
In our opinion, the separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the unconsolidated financial position of the Company as at 31st 
December 2017 and of its unconsolidated financial performance and its unconsolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

• Revenue Recognition

(Refer to the significant accounting policies in note 3.10 and note 6 of the consolidated and separate financial statements).
 

Description Our Response

Given the complex nature in capturing revenue due to involvement 
of different IT systems in capturing the revenue generated and 
the high volume of low value transactions captured by the billing 
systems of the Company, the revenue recognition process of the 
Company was considered as a matter that require our significant 
attention.

Our audit procedures included
 - Testing of the design and operating effectiveness of key 

controls, assisted by our in house IT specialists including, 
among others, those over the input of terms and pricing of 
different services; accuracy and completeness of the data 
captured by different systems and linkage between the 
systems.

 - Detailed analysis of revenue and tested the timing of its 
recognition through focused substantive testing performed 
based on our industry knowledge.

 - Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial 
statements complying with the International Accounting 
Standards.

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of
Ooredoo Maldives PLC

4 7



Key Audit Matters (Continued)

• Reversal of the impairment over investment in Intangible asset and the investment in subsidiary

(Refer to the significant accounting policies in note 3.6 (ii), note 13 and 15 of the consolidated and separate financial statements).

Description Our Response

Annual review of provision for impairment over intangible asset of 
the Group and the provision for impairment over the investment in 
subsidiary of the parent Company is considered to be a key audit 
matter due to the significant judgement required in determining the 
assumptions to be used to estimate the recoverable amount which is 
based on the value in use derived from discounted cash flow model. 
This model uses several key assumptions, including estimates of 
future cash flows, discount rate and the growth rate.

Our audit procedures included
 - Testing the appropriateness assisted by our in house 

valuation specialists to critically assess the assumptions 
and methodologies used in the estimation of projected 
future cash flows of the intangible asset and investment in 
subsidiary by the management.

 - Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions based 
on our knowledge of the business and industry.

 - Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial 
statements, including the description and appropriateness 
of the inherent degree of subjectivity and key assumptions 
in the estimates.

Other Information

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The annual 
report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter 
to the Board.

Responsibilities of the Board of directors for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

The Board of directors (“the Board”) is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.
 
In preparing these consolidated and separate financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Board either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether these consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements.
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:
  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of these consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Continued)

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Board. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards. 
  
From the matters communicated with the Board, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Mohamed Shameel.

Mohamed Shameel
For and on behalf of KPMG
11th February 2018
Male’
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)   
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017 

 Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

Note  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Revenue 6 1,844,095 1,613,173 1,808,259 1,574,438

Other Income 7 36,714 1,350 36,546 3,786

Operating Expenses 8 (924,957) (800,212) (940,150) (818,169)

Depreciation and Amortization (249,049) (228,002) (235,973) (215,322)

Results from Operating Activities 706,803 586,309 668,682 544,733

Finance Income 9 15,371 11,449 12,009 8,678

Finance Costs 9 (26,820) (27,962) (26,820) (27,962)

Net Finance Costs (11,449) (16,513) (14,811) (19,284)

Profit Before Tax 695,354 569,796 653,871 525,449

Income Tax Expense 10 (114,927) (78,460) (103,869) (71,855)

Profit for the Year 580,427 491,336 550,002 453,594

Other Comprehensive Income - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 580,427 491,336 550,002 453,594

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 558,439 478,127 550,002 453,594

Non-Controlling Interest 23 21,988 13,209 - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 580,427 491,336 550,002 453,594

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share 11 3.78 3.23 3.72 3.07

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.          
          
The Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of 
the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements of the Company set out on pages 57 to 90. The Report of the Independent Auditors 
is given on pages 47 to 49.         
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Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Note  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 12 1,049,342 1,070,777 1,036,785 1,056,932

Intangible Assets 13 137,207 124,992 55,050 66,050

Prepaid Lease Rent 14 33,154 - 33,154 -

Investment in Subsidiary 15 - - 188,488 156,089

Deferred Tax Assets 10.2 17,004 17,905 17,397 11,717

Total Non-Current Assets 1,236,707 1,213,674 1,330,874 1,290,788

Current Assets

Inventories 16 17,408 8,979 17,408 8,979

Trade and Other Receivables 17 248,175 304,580 245,774 298,724

Amount Due from Related Party 18 31,985 21,561 - -

Investments 19 548,223 782,590 407,000 662,464

Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 1,175,773 263,319 1,141,266 253,027

Total Current Assets 2,021,564 1,381,029 1,811,448 1,223,194

Total Assets 3,258,271 2,594,703 3,142,322 2,513,982

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share Capital 21 1,478,004 1,478,004 1,478,004 1,478,004

Reserve on Translation of Share Capital 22 144,180 144,180 144,180 144,180

Accumulated Losses (553,621) (705,609) (559,540) (703,094)

Total Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 1,068,563 916,575 1,062,644 919,090

Non-Controlling Interest 23 104,651 82,663 - -

Total Equity 1,173,214 999,238 1,062,644 919,090

OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)   
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31ST DECEMBER 2017 
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Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Note  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

LIABILITIES

Non-Current Liabilities

Loans and Borrowings 24.2 272,358 450,074 272,358 450,074

Provisions 25 16,920 18,158 16,920 18,158

Deferred Tax Liabilities 10.3 122 - 3,208 3,841

Total Non-Current Liabilities 289,400 468,232 292,486 472,073

Current Liabilities

Loans and Borrowings 24.3 63,633 93,639 63,633 93,639

Amounts Due to Related Parties 26 871,925 527,212 875,792 528,685

Trade and Other Payables 27 791,031 419,555 781,298 415,915

Income Tax Payable 69,068 86,827 66,469 84,580

Total Current Liabilities 1,795,657 1,127,233 1,787,192 1,122,819

Total Liabilities 2,085,057 1,595,465 2,079,678 1,594,892

Total Equity and Liabilities 3,258,271 2,594,703 3,142,322 2,513,982

Figures in brackets indicate deductions.         
         
The Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of 
the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements of the Company set out on pages 57 to 90. The Report of the Independent Auditors 
is given on pages 47 to 49.          
  
These Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements were approved by the board of Directors and signed on its behalf by;   
      
         
                                       Name of the Director                    Signature     

  
       
                              …...…………………………………….        ……………………………………..  

   
                              …...…………………………………….        ……………………………………..  

   
                              …...…………………………………….        ……………………………………..     
 
  
     
11th February 2018 

OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)   
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31ST DECEMBER 2017 

Khalid Ibrahim A Al-Mahmoud

Najib Khan

Thavabalan Poobalasingam
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GROUP Attributable to the Owners of the Company

 Non-
Controlling 
Interest 

 Total 
 Equity Share 

Capital

Reserve on 
Translatoin 
of Share 
Capital

Advance 
for Share 
Capital

Accumulated 
Losses  Total 

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR 
“000”  MVR“000”  MVR “000”  MVR“000”  MVR 

“000” 

As at 1st January 2016 1,012,320 144,180 465,684 (1,183,736) 438,448 69,454 507,902

Comprehensive Income for the Year

Profit for the Year - - - 478,127 478,127 13,209 491,336

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year - - - - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Year - - - 478,127 478,127 13,209 491,336

Transactions with Owners Directly 
Recorded in Equity

Advance for Share Capital Transferred to 
Share Capital During the Year 465,684 - (465,684) - - - -

Total Transactions with Owners Directly 
Recorded in Equity 465,684 - (465,684) - - - -

As at 31st December 2016 1,478,004 144,180 - (705,609) 916,575 82,663 999,238

As at 1st January 2017 1,478,004 144,180 - (705,609) 916,575 82,663 999,238

Comprehensive Income for the Year

Profit for the Year - - - 558,439 558,439 21,988 580,427

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year - - - - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Year - - - 558,439 558,439 21,988 580,427

Transactions with Owners Directly 
Recorded in Equity

Dividend Declared (Note 21.5) - - - (406,451) (406,451) - (406,451)

Total Transactions with Owners Directly 
Recorded in Equity - - - (406,451) (406,451) - (406,451)

As at 31st December 2017 1,478,004 144,180 - (553,621) 1,068,563 104,651 1,173,214

             
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.           
  
             
The Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of 
the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements of the Company set out on pages 57 to 90. The Report of the Independent Auditors 
is given on pages 47 to 49.            
 
             

OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)   
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017 
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)   
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017 

COMPANY Share Capital

Reserve on 
Translation 
of Share 
Capital

Advance for 
Share Capital

Accumulated 
Losses  Total Equity

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

As at 1st January 2016 1,012,320 144,180 465,684 (1,156,688) 465,496

Comprehensive Income for the Year

Profit for the Year - - - 453,594 453,594

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year - - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - - - 453,594 453,594

Transactions with Owners Directly Recorded in Equity

Advance for Share Capital Transferred to Share Capital 
During the Year 465,684 - (465,684) - -

Total Transactions with Owners Directly Recorded in 
Equity 465,684 - (465,684) - -

As at 31st December 2016 1,478,004 144,180 - (703,094) 919,090

As at 31st January 2017 1,478,004 144,180 - (703,091) 919,093

Comprehensive Income for the Year

Profit for the Year - - - 550,002 550,002

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year - - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - - - 550,002 550,002

Transactions with Owners Directly Recorded in Equity

Dividend Declared (Note 21.5) - - - (406,451) (406,451)

Total Transactions with Owners Directly Recorded in 
Equity - - - (406,451) (406,451)

As at 31st December 2017 1,478,004 144,180 - (559,540) 1,062,644

              
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.           
   
              
The Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of 
the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements of the Company set out on pages 57 to 90. The Report of the Independent Auditors 
is given on pages 47 to 49.             
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)   
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE  STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Note  MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Profit Before Tax 695,354 569,796 653,871 525,449

Ajustments for:

Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment 12 216,151 193,129 214,863 192,238

Amortization of Intangible Assets 13 32,617 34,873 20,829 23,084

Amortization of Lease Prepayment 281 - 281 -

Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 7 - (360) - (360)

Provision for Obsolete Inventories 8 10,580 64 10,580 64

Written-off of Impairment Provision on Obsolete Inventory 16.1 - (328) - (328)

Provision for Impairment Loss on Trade Receivables 8 20,253 8,635 20,253 8,635

Provision for the Share based payment obligation 1,756 1,756 -

Reversal of Impairment Loss on Investment - - (32,399) -

Reversal of Impairment Loss on Intangible Assets (35,003) - - -

Interest Expense 9 26,820 27,962 26,820 27,962

Operating Profit Before Working Capital Changes 968,809 833,771 916,854 776,744

Working Capital Changes

Change in Inventories (19,009) (3,639) (19,009) (3,639)

Change in Trade and Other Receivables 36,152 (122,357) 32,705 (119,073)

Change in Amount Due from Related Party (10,424) 745 - -

Change in Amounts Due to Related Parties 2,910 3,024 5,304 4,100

Change in Trade and Other Payables 39,662 154,350 33,569 155,435

Cash from Operating Activities 1,018,100 865,894 969,423 813,567

Interest Paid (25,604) (387) (25,604) (387)

Tax Paid (131,663) (8,542) (128,293) (8,542)

Net Cash from Operating Activities 860,833 856,965 815,526 804,638

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase and Construction of Property, Plant and Equipment 12 (192,763) (319,268) (192,769) (307,372)

Acquisition of Intangible Assets 13 (15,991) (25,137) (15,991) (25,137)

Lease Prepayment (33,435) - (33,435) -
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Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Note  MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

Net movement in Investments 19 234,367 (461,888) 255,464 (416,762)

Proceeds on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment - 360 - 360

Net Cash from (Used) in Investing Activities (7,822) (805,933) 13,269 (748,911)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Dividend Paid During the year (74,637) - (74,637) -

Net movement in Loans and Borrowings 24 (207,722) (151,530) (207,722) (151,530)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (282,359) (151,530) (282,359) (151,530)

Net  Increase/ (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 570,652 (100,498) 546,436 (95,803)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Year 263,319 363,817 253,027 348,830

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Year 20 833,971 263,319 799,463 253,027

           
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.          
 
           
The Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the related notes, which form an integral part of 
the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements of the Company set out on pages 57 to 90. The Report of the Independent Auditors 
is given on pages 47 to 49.            
           
           

OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)   
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE  STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Ooredoo Maldives PLC (the “Company”) is a Company incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Maldives as a private limited 
liability Company since 7th December 2004 under the name of “Wataniya Telecom Maldives Private Limited” with its registered office 
at 2nd Floor, Urban Unit Building, Hulhumale, Republic of Maldives. The Company’s name was changed to “Ooredoo Maldives Private 
Limited and Ooredoo Maldives PLC” respectively with effect from 22nd December 2013 and 6th October 2016 and presently governed 
under the Companies’ Act No. 10 of 1996, with its registered office at P.O. Box 2196, 5th Floor, H. Sunleet, Gadhage’ Mohamedfulhu 
Building, Boduthakurufaanu Magu, Male’, Republic of Maldives.

The main business activity of the Company is to engage in the provision of mobile telephone, mobile telecommunication services 
and provide internet services in Republic of Maldives under a license from Communication Authority of Maldives.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st December 2017 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiary WARF Telecom International Private Limited (together referred to as the “Group”).

The Company is the immediate holding Company of WARF Telecom International Private Limited, which is engaged in facilitating the 
bulk sale of international telecommunications and to construct and operate all telecommunications apparatus and or facilities that 
are required to provide international telecommunications bandwidth in and out of the Republic of Maldives. As at the reporting date, 
the Company holds 65% shareholding of WARF Telecom International Private Limited.

The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is Ooredoo Q.S.C., a Company incorporated and domiciled in 
Qatar.

Separate financial statements of the parent Company is presented as a part of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
the purpose of filling the business profit tax return with the Maldives Inland Revenue Authority.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of Compliance
The Consolidated and Separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs).

(b) Basis of Measurement
The Consolidated and Separate financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency
These consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, which is the Group’s functional 
currency. All financial information presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa has been rounded to the nearest thousand Rufiyaa.

 
(d) Use of Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

  
(d) Use of Estimates and Judgements (Continued)

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

  
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated and separate financial statements is included in the respective notes.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated and separate 
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group.

a. Basis of Consolidation

(i)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has right to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ii) Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Non-Controlling Interest
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are presented 
separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

b. Transactions in Foreign Currency 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional currency are translated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate ruling at the reporting date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in the 
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are measured at historical cost, denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are stated 
at fair value, denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the dates 
the values were determined.

3.1 Financial Instruments

(i)  Financial Assets (Non-derivative)
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets are recognized 
initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group 
is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

The Group has the following financial assets (non-derivative):

• Receivables
• Investments
• Cash and Cash Equivalents

Receivables
Receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are 
recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition receivables are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

Receivables comprise trade and other receivables and amount due from related party.

Investments
Investments comprise fixed deposits in banks with maturities over three months and investments in treasury bills.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits in banks with maturities of three months or less from the 
acquisition date that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value.

(ii)  Financial liabilities (non-derivative)
The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities consist of loans and borrowings, amounts due to related parties and trade and other 
payables. Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii)  Share Capital
Ordinary Shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a 
deduction from equity.

3.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

(i)  Recognition and Measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses if 
any. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes 
the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their 
intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located and capitalized 
borrowing costs. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that 
equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment 
are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are 
recognized net within other income in profit or loss. 

(ii) Subsequent Costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment 
are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Capital Work in Progress
Capital work in progress as at the year end represents the costs incurred or accrued for the projects which are not commissioned for 
commercial operation as at the year end.

(iv) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its 
residual value.

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, 
plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold Improvement Over 5 Years

Network Equipments Over 8 Years

Network Infrastructure Equipments Over 14 Years

Office and Computer Equipments Over 3 to 5 Years

Furniture and Fixtures Over 5 Years

Power/ Tool and Equipments Over 3 to 14 Years

Vessels and Motor Vehicles Over 5 Years

 
Depreciation is provided from the month in which the property, plant and equipment is ready for use.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.3 Intangible Assets 
     
(i)  Recognition and Measurement
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses if any.
 
The Company’s right to receive rentals in exchange for obligation to provide construction service has been recognized as an 
intangible asset. The rights received as consideration for construction service are recognized at cost, which is the value of 
consideration received or receivable for the Construction Services.

(ii) Subsequent Expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it 
relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Capital Work in Progress
Capital work in progress as at the year end represents the costs incurred or accrued for the projects which are not commissioned for 
commercial operation as at the year end.

(iv) Amortization

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, from the date 
that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected patterns of consumption of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the assets. 
 
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

License Fee Over 15 Years

IT Software Over 3 to 8 Years

Capacity Right Over 15 years

3.4 Prepaid lease rental

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease  
At inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. An arrangement 
conveys the right to use the asset if the arrangement conveys to the Company the right to control the use of the underlying asset. At 
inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Company separates payments and other consideration required by such an 
arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values

3.5 Inventories
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average 
principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in 
bringing them to their existing location and condition.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
selling expenses.    

3.6 Impairment

(i)  Financial Assets (including receivables)
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that 
can be estimated reliably.

The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant 
receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are 
then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Receivables that are not individually 
significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together receivables with similar risk characteristics.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.6 Impairment (continued)

(i)  Financial Assets (including receivables) (continued)
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are 
recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be 
recognized through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the 
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

(ii)  Non-financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets except inventories are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For 
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year 
at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets.
  

3.7 Borrowing Cost

Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except to the extent where borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the construction of an asset that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use 
or sale, are capitalized as part of that asset.

3.8 Employee Benefits
 
(a) Short Term Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations of the Group are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided.

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

(b) Defined Contribution Plans - Employees’ Retirement Pension Scheme

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment contribution plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which related services 
are rendered by employees. 

Employees are eligible for Employees’ Retirement Pension Scheme Contributions in accordance with the respective statutes and 
regulations. The Company contributes 7% of gross emoluments of employees to the Employees’ Retirement Pension Scheme.

(c) Share Based Payment Arrangement

The fair value of the amounts payable to employees in respect of shadow shares, which are settled in cash, is recognized as an 
expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled 
to the payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and settlement date based on the fair value of the shadow 
shares. Any changes in the liability is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

3.9 Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 

If the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of discount is 
recognized as finance cost.

A provision is made for the best estimate of the present value of the unavoidable future cost of dismantling and removing the items 
of property, plant and equipment and restoring the sites on which they are located.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.10 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised net of discounts and represents the amounts receivables in respect of goods and services provided to the 
customers.

(a) Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue from sales of telecommunications equipment is 
recognised when persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and 
possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognised as a 
reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised. The total consideration on arrangements with multiple revenue generating 
activities (generally the sale of telecommunications equipment and ongoing service) is allocated to those components that are 
separable based on the estimated fair value of the components.

The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the contract of sale.

(b) Services

Revenue from services is recognised as the services are provided. Revenue from service contracts that cover periods of greater 
than 12 months is recognised in the profit and loss in proportion to the services delivered at the reporting date. In respect of 
services invoiced in advance, amounts are deferred until provision of the service.

Amounts payable by and to other telecommunications operators are recognised as the services are provided. Charges are 
negotiated separately and are subject to continual review. Revenue generated through the provision of these services is 
accounted for gross of any amounts payable to other telecommunication operators for interconnect fees.

Customer revenues from the billing cycle date to the end of each period is accrued. Unearned monthly access charges relating to 
periods after each accounting period are deferred.

Mobile revenue comprises amounts charged to customers in respect of monthly access charges, airtime usage, messaging, and 
the provision of other mobile telecommunications services. Mobile monthly access charges are invoiced and recorded as part 
of a periodic billing cycle. Airtime, either from contract customers as part of the invoiced amount or from prepaid customers 
through the sale of prepaid cards, is recorded in the period in which the customer uses the service. 

The Company recognises revenue from the transmission of content and traffic on its network originated by third-party 
providers. The Company assesses whether revenue should be recorded gross as principal or net as agent, based on the 
particular features of such arrangements. Revenue arising from the provision of other services, including maintenance 
contracts, is recognised evenly over the periods in which the service is provided.

3.11 Tax Expense
      

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss.

Current tax 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the 
tax rate enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to 
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

3.12 Events Occurring Subsequent to the Reporting Date

The materiality of the events occurring subsequent to the reporting date has been considered and appropriate adjustments and 
provisions have been made in the consolidated financial statements wherever necessary.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.13 Finance Income and Finance Costs

Finance income comprises interest on fixed deposits and treasury bills.
       
Finance costs comprises interest expense on borrowings. Borrowings costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Foreign currency 
gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the 
following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the 
notes specific to that asset or liability.

(i) Trade and other receivables 
        
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of 
interest at the reporting date. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes.

(ii) Financial liabilities (Non-derivative) 

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash 
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

5. NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

5.1 New and Amended Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective.

A number of new standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 1st January 2017 and early application 
is permitted. However, the Group / Company has not early adopted the following new or amended standards in preparing these 
financial statements. 

(a) IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments sets out requirements for recognition, classification, measurement and impairment of financial 
assets, recognition, classification and measurement of financial liabilities and hedge accounting. This standard replaces IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Group / Company is required to adopt IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
from 1st January 2018. The Group / Company is in the preliminary stage of assessing the impact of initial application of IFRS 9 on 
its financial statements. The possible impact of the adoption of this standards on the Group / Company’s based on assessments 
undertaken to date and is summarised below.

(i) Classification – Financial assets and financial liabilities
IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the business model in which 
assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics. 

IFRS 9, contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortized costs, Fair Value through 
Other Comprehensive Income (“FVOCI”) and Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The standard eliminates the existing IAS 
39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale. 

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities. 

Since the Group / Company does not have any financial assets classified as Fair value through profit or loss and Available for Sale 
under IAS 39 and liabilities designated as at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss, the Group / Company believes that classification is 
not expected to have a significant impact to the financial statements.

(ii) Impairment – Financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking “expected credit loss” (ECL) model. This will require 
considerable judgement about how changes in economic factors affect ECLs, which will be determined on a probability-weighted 
basis. The new impairment model will apply to financial assets measured at amortized cost, FVOCI except for investments in 
equity instruments, and to contract assets.

The Group / Company believes that there would be a possible impact to the impairment recognized under IAS 39 and plans to 
the complete the quantification of by end of first quarter of 2018.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED)

(iii) Disclosures
IFRS 9 will require new disclosures, in particular about credit risk and ECLs. The Group’s/ Company’s assessment will include an 
analysis to identify data gaps against current processes. 

(iv) Transition
The Group / Company plans to adopt IFRS 9 in its financial statements for the year ending 31st December 2018, using the 
cumulative effect method. As a result, the Company will not apply the requirements of IFRS 9 to the comparative period 
presented.

(b)     IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. It 
replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer 
Loyalty Programmes.

The Group / Company is required to adopt IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with Customers from 1st January 2018. The Group 
/ Company has partially completed assessing the impact of initial application of IFRS 15 on its financial statements. The 
possible impact of the adoption of this standards on the Group / Company is based on assessments undertaken to date and is 
summarised below.

(i) Sale of goods
For the mobile sales with a small margin price currently, the upfront fee revenue is recognized at the point of sale and the 
remaining instalment fee is recognized over the subscribed period. However, under IFRS 15, the sales of mobile device is to be 
recognized at the time of sale. The mobile selling price is to be recognized as a contract asset. 

(ii) Rendering of services
The Group / Company provides loyalty points to its customers and the current accounting practice for this is required to be 
amended based on IFRS 15 by estimating the likelihood of redemption of the points and defer the revenue based on that 
estimation.

(iii) Transition
The Group / Company is in the process of assessing the on the potential impact of the adoption of IFRS 15 on its financial 
statements. The Group / Company plans to adopt IFRS 15 in its financial statements for the year ending 31st December 2018, 
using the cumulative effect method. As a result, the Company does not plan to apply the requirements of IFRS 15 to the 
comparative period presented.

(c)     IFRS 16 - Leases
IFRS 16 replaces existing leasing guidance, including IAS 17 “Leases”, IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an arrangement contains a 
Lease”, SIC 15 “Operating Leases – Incentives” and SIC 27 “Evaluating the substance of Transactions involving the legal form of a 
Lease”.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2019. Early adoption is permitted for entities that 
apply IFRS 15 at of before the date of initial application of IFRS 16.

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset 
representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. There 
are recognition exemptions for short term leases and leases of low value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current 
standard. The Group / Company is in the preliminary stage of assessing the impact on its financial statements from adopting 
IFRS 16 and plans to adopt the standard as at 1st January 2019.

(d)     Other standards
The following amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s / Company’s financial 
statements. 

Title Description Effective Date

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration. Annual period beginning on or after 1st January 2018.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. Annual period beginning on or after 1st January 2019.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

6 REVENUE  Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Mobile Telephony 1,663,672 1,506,226 1,663,672 1,506,226

Handsets and Accessories Sales 18,846 12,341 18,846 12,341

Broadband and Other Rental Income 125,741 55,871 125,741 55,871

Capacity Rights 35,836 38,735 - -

1,844,095 1,613,173 1,808,259 1,574,438

7 OTHER INCOME  Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Management Fee - - 2,436 2,436

Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment - 360 - 360

Reversal of Impairment Loss on Investment in subsidiary (Note 15.1) - - 32,399 -

Reversal of Impairment Loss on Intangible Asset (Note 13.1.5) 35,003 - - -

Other Income 1,711 990 1,711 990

36,714 1,350 36,546 3,786

8 OPERATING EXPENSES  Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Direct Cost of Services 517,775 489,893 529,262 508,046

Personnel Costs (Note 8.1) 152,403 137,886 152,403 137,886

Management Fees 51,381 44,039 51,381 44,039

Provision for Obsolete Inventories 10,580 64 10,580 64

Provision for Impairment of Trade Receivables 20,253 8,635 20,253 8,635

Marketing Expenses 61,693 46,013 61,693 46,319

Repair and Maintenance Costs 32,996 19,408 32,996 19,408

Operating Lease Rent 6,651 3,898 6,651 3,898

Royalty Expense 27,124 15,742 27,124 15,742

Professional Fees 10,563 7,747 10,470 7,735

Other Operating Costs 33,538 15,382 37,337 26,397

924,957 800,212 940,150 818,169
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

8.1 Personnel Costs  Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Salaries and Wages 86,326 79,496 86,326 79,496

Pension Fund Contribution 3,369 2,806 3,369 2,806

Cost of Share Based Payment awards (Note 25.2) 1,756 - 1,756 -

Other Staff Costs 60,952 55,584 60,952 55,584

152,403 137,886 152,403 137,886

9 NET FINANCE COSTS  Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Finance Income

Interest Income 15,371 11,449 12,009 8,678

Finance Costs

Interest Expenses (25,604) (27,962) (25,604) (27,962)

Unwinding of discount of Asset Retirement Obligation (1,216) - (1,216) -

(26,820) (27,962) (26,820) (27,962)

Net Finance Costs (11,449) (16,513) (14,811) (19,284)

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE  Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Current Tax Expense (Note 10.1) 113,904 89,674 110,182 87,427

Over Provision in Respect of Previous Year - (283) - (283)

(Recognition)/ Reversal of Deferred Tax Asset (Note 10.2) 901 (7,933) (5,680) (11,717)

Recognition/ (Reversal) of Deferred Tax Liability (Note 10.3) 122 (2,998) (633) (3,572)

114,927 78,460 103,869 71,855
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

10.1 Reconciliation Between Accounting Profit and Taxable Profit: Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Accounting Profit Before Tax 695,354 569,796 653,871 525,449

Aggregate Disallowable Items 375,349 267,863 329,785 255,183

Aggregate Allowable Items (310,846) (225,543) (248,863) (197,535)

Utilisation of Tax Loss - (13,790) - -

Tax Free Allowance (500) (500) (250) (250)

Total Taxable Profit 759,357 597,826 734,543 582,847

Income Tax @ 15% 113,904 89,674 110,182 87,427

In accordance with the provisions of the Business Profit Tax Act No. 5 of 2011, relevant regulations and subsequent amendments 
thereto, the Company is liable for income tax on its taxable profits at the rate of 15%.

10.2 Deferred Tax Assets  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

As at 1st January 17,905 9,972 11,717 -

Recognized/ (Reversed) during the Year (901) 7,933 5,680 11,717

As at 31st December 17,004 17,905 17,397 11,717

Deferred Tax Assets are attributable to the following;

Group Company

31/12/2017 31/12/2017

Temporary Tax Effect Temporary Tax Effect

Difference Difference

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Property, Plant and Equipment 96,445 14,466 99,062 14,859

Asset retirement Obligation 15,164 2,275 15,164 2,275

Share based Payment arrangements 1,756 263 1,756 263

113,365 17,004 115,982 17,397
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

10 TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

10.2 Deferred Tax Assets (Continued)

Deferred Tax Assets are attributable to the following; Group Company

31/12/2016 31/12/2016

Temporary Tax Effect Temporary Tax Effect

Difference Difference

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Property, Plant and Equipment 57,328 8,599 59,955 8,993

Intangible Assets 43,881 6,582 - -

Asset Retirement obligation 18,158 2,724 18,158 2,724

119,367 17,905 78,113 11,717

10.3 Deferred Tax Liabilities  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

As at 1st January - 2,998 3,841 7,413

Recognized/ (Reversal) for the Year 122 (2,998) (633) (3,572)

As at 31st December 122 - 3,208 3,841

Deferred Tax Liabilities are attributable to the following;

Group Company

31/12/2017 31/12/2017

Temporary Tax Effect Temporary Tax Effect

Difference Difference

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Intangible Assets 810 122 21,383 3,208

810 122 21,383 3,208
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

10 TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

10.3 Deferred Tax Liabilities (Continued)

Deferred Tax Liabilities are attributable to the following;

Group Company

31/12/2016 31/12/2016

Temporary Tax Effect Temporary Tax Effect

Difference Difference

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Intangible Assets - - 25,607 3,841

- - 25,607 3,841

11 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNING PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on profit for the year attributable to the ordinary shareholders and 
weighted number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year and calculated as follows;

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

Profit for the Year Attributable to Shareholders (MVR. “000”) 558,439 478,127 550,002 453,594

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares in Issue (“000”) 147,800 147,800 147,800 147,800

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Shares (MVR.) 3.78 3.23 3.72 3.07
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12.1 Group
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 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

Cost

As at 1st January 29,513 1,240,526 731,764 56,354 14,742 171,924 13,878 97,681 2,356,382 2,325,187

Additions During the Year - - 490 - - - - 192,763 193,253 319,268

Transferred from Capital Work In 

Progress
2,147 122,194 65,245 4,813 3,937 12,111 16 (210,463) - -

Transferred from Intangible Assets - - 6,162 - - - - - 6,162 18,158

Changes to the asset retirement 

obligation
- - (4,699) - - - - - (4,699) -

Written off During the Year - - - - - - - - - (305,409)

Disposals During the Year - - - - - - - - - (822)

As at 31st December 31,660 1,362,720 798,962 61,167 18,679 184,035 13,894 79,981 2,551,098 2,356,382

Accumulated Depreciation

As at 1st January 27,281 674,451 377,859 48,954 11,731 135,642 9,687 - 1,285,605 1,398,707

Charge for the Year 1,318 128,574 64,158 5,325 1,693 13,517 1,566 - 216,151 193,129

Written off During the Year - - - - - - - - - (305,409)

Disposals During the Year - - - - - - - - - (822)

As at 31st December 28,599 803,025 442,017 54,279 13,424 149,159 11,253 - 1,501,756 1,285,605

Net Carrying Values

As at 31st December 2017 3,061 559,695 356,945 6,888 5,255 34,876 2,641 79,981 1,049,342

As at 31st December 2016 2,232 566,075 353,905 7,400 3,011 36,282 4,191 97,681 1,070,777

12.1.1 The Capital work in progress mainly includes the amount incurred in respect of the network equipments and network 
insfrastructure projects. The total cost amount to MVR.54,899,180/- and MVR. 16,893,095/-  respectively, as at 31st December 2017 
(2016:MVR.70,674,677/-and MVR. 17,041,909/-).

12.1.2 The Group has capitalized the borrowing costs related to the acquisition and construction of Network Equipments and Network 
Infrastructure equipments amount of MVR. 467,654/- (2016: MVR.9,367,850/-).
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

12.2 Company
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 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

 MVR 
“000” 

Cost

As at 1st January 29,513 1,240,526 714,144 56,354 14,742 166,435 13,878 97,681 2,333,273 2,313,974

Additions During the Year - - 490 - - - - 192,763 193,253 307,372

Transferred from Capital Work In 

Progress
2,147 122,194 65,245 4,813 3,937 12,111 16 (210,463) - -

Transferred from Intangible Assets - - 6,162 - - - - - 6,162 -

Changes to the asset retirement 

obligation
- - (4,699) - - - - - (4,699) 18,158

Written off During the Year - - - - - - - - - (305,409)

Disposals During the Year - - - - - - - - - (822)

As at 31st December 31,660 1,362,720 781,342 61,167 18,679 178,546 13,894 79,981 2,527,989 2,333,273

Accumulated Depreciation

As at 1st January 27,281 674,451 373,646 48,954 11,731 130,591 9,687 - 1,276,341 1,390,334

Charge for the Year 1,318 128,574 62,983 5,325 1,693 13,404 1,566 - 214,863 192,238

Written off During the Year - - - - - - - - - (305,409)

Disposals During the Year - - - - - - - - - (822)

As at 31st December 28,599 803,025 436,629 54,279 13,424 143,995 11,253 - 1,491,204 1,276,341

Net Carrying Values

As at 31st December 2017 3,061 559,695 344,713 6,888 5,255 34,551 2,641 79,981 1,036,785

As at 31st December 2016 2,232 566,075 340,498 7,400 3,011 35,844 4,191 97,681 1,056,932

12.2.1 The Capital work in progress mainly includes the amount incurred in respect of the network equipments and network 
insfrastructure projects. The total cost amount to MVR.54,899,180/- and MVR. 16,893,095/-  respectively, as at 31st December 2017 
(2016:MVR.70,674,677/-and MVR. 17,041,909/-).

12.2.2 The Company has capitalized the borrowing costs related to the acquisition and construction of Network Equipments and Network 
Infrastructure equipments amount of MVR. 467,654/- (2016: MVR.9,367,850/-).
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

13 INTANGIBLE ASSET

License
Fee

IT
Software

Capacity
Right

 Capital 
Work In
Progress

 Total 
2017

Total
2016

13.1 Group  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Cost

As at 1st January 15,420 226,215 385,500 11,616 638,751 613,614

Additions During the Year - - - 15,991 15,991 25,137

Transferred from Capital Work in Progress - 16,616 - (16,616) - -

Transferred to Property Plant and Equipment - - - (6,162) (6,162) -

As at 31st December 15,420 242,831 385,500 4,829 648,580 638,751

Accumulated Amortization and Impairment

As at 1st January 12,141 175,060 326,558 - 513,759 478,886

Amortization for the Year 1,063 19,766 11,788 - 32,617 34,873

Reversal of  Impairment loss on Intangible Asset 
(Note 13.1.5) - - (35,003) - (35,003) -

Disposals During the Year - - - - - -

As at 31st December 13,204 194,826 303,343 - 511,373 513,759

Net Carrying Values

As at 31st December 2017 2,216 48,005 82,157 4,829 137,207

As at 31st December 2016 3,279 51,155 58,942 11,616 124,992

13.1.1 The Group has entered into an agreement with the Government of the Republic of Maldives during the year ended 31st December 
2005 to obtain a Mobile Telecommunications License to install, own, operate and manage a mobile telecommunication network 
and provide mobile telecommunication services for a period of fifteen years. The amount paid by the Group to acquire the mobile 
telecommunication license has been recognized as an intangible asset and amortized over a period of 15 years commencing from 
the date of acquisition.

13.1.2 The purchase and upgrade cost of IT software has been recognized as an intangible assets and amortized over a period of 3 to 8 
years.

13.1.3 The Group has entered into an agreement with Reliance Globalcom Limited (Flag Telecom Group Limited) during the year ended 
31st December 2005 for use of capacity right of a fiber optic cable for a period of fifteen years. The amount paid by the Group to 
acquire the capacity right has been recognized as an intangible asset and amortized over a period of 15 years commencing from 
the date of acquisition.

13.1.4 The Capital work in progress mainly includes amounts incurred in respect of developing the Oracle ERP and E-Commerce Solution.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

13 INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED)

13.1.5 Reversal of impairment loss on intangible asset

The impairment loss and its subsequent reversal recognised in relation to the capacity right owned by the subsidiary is as follows,

2017

MVR “000”

As at 1st January 153,027

Reversal of impairment loss during the year (35,003)

As at 31st December 118,024

During the year 2010 due to unfavourable business conditions the Board of Directors of WARF Telecom International Private 
Limited had assessed the recoverable amount of the capacity right and recognized an impairment loss. The recoverable amount 
was estimated based on the value in use of the capacity right.  However, during the year ended 31st December 2017, due to the 
improvement in the operations the Board of Directors of the subsidiary has reassessed its estimates and reversed a part of the 
initially recognized impairment loss.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent the assessment of the Board of Directors of WARF Telecom International 
Private Limited relating to future expectation of the operations. Key assumptions used in the estimate of value in use are,

Discount rate 17.04%

Expected growth rate 3%

Expected remaining useful life 4 years

The recoverable amount of the intangible asset as at 31st December 2017 was MVR 82,156,655/-.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

13 INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED)

13.2 Company License IT  Capital  Total Total

Fee Software Work In 2017 2016

Progress

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Cost

As at 1st January 15,420 226,215 11,616 253,251 228,114

Additions During the Year - - 15,991 15,991 25,137

Transferred from Capital Work in Progress - 16,616 (16,616) - -

Transferred to Property Plant and Equipment - - (6,162) (6,162) -

As at 31st December 15,420 242,831 4,829 263,080 253,251

Accumulated Amortization

As at 1st January 12,141 175,060 - 187,201 164,117

Amortization for the Year 1,063 19,766 - 20,829 23,084

As at 31st December 13,204 194,826 - 208,030 187,201

Net Carrying Values

As at 31st December 2017 2,216 48,005 4,829 55,050

As at 31st December 2016 3,279 51,155 11,616 66,050

13.2.1 The Company has entered into an agreement with the Government of the Republic of Maldives during the year ended 31st 
December 2005 to obtain a Mobile Telecommunications License to install, own, operate and manage a mobile telecommunication 
network and provide mobile telecommunication services for a period of fifteen years. The amount paid by the Company to 
acquire the mobile telecommunication license has been recognized as an intangible asset and amortized over a period of 15 years 
commencing from the date of acquisition.

13.2.2 The purchase and upgrade cost of IT software has been recognized as an intangible assets and amortized over a period of 3 to 8 
years.

13.2.3 The Capital work in progress mainly includes amounts incurred in respect of developing the Oracle ERP and E-Commerce Solution.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

14  PREPAID LEASE RENT  Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

As at 1st January - - - -

Addtions during the year 33,435 - 33,435 -

Ammortization During the year (281) - (281) -

31st December 33,154 - 33,154 -

The Company has paid an amount of MVR 33,435,480/- to the Housing Development Corporation Limited as an advance payment 
for the Land in Hulhumale’ aquired for commercial use period for 99 years commencing as per the lease agreement dated 23rd 
March 2017, entered into between the Company and Housing Development Corporation Limited. Accordingly, the lease payment 
has been recognized as prepayment and is being amortized over the lease period.

15 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

WARF Telecom International Private Limited - - 255,587 255,587

Impairment of Investment (Note 15.1) - - (67,099) (99,498)

- - 188,488 156,089

15.1 Provision for impairment of the investment in subsidiary 2017 2016

MVR “000” MVR “000”

As at 1st January 99,498 99,498

Reversal of Provision for impairment loss during the year (32,399) -

As at 31st December 67,099 99,498

During the year 2010 due to unfavourable business conditions the Board of Directors of the Company had assessed the recoverable 
amount of the investment in the subsidiary and recognized an impairment loss. The recoverable amount was estimated based on 
the value expected cash flows from the subsidiary.  However, during the year ended 31st December 2017, due to the improvement in 
the operations the Board of Directors has reassessed its estimates and reversed a part of the initially recognized impairment loss.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent the Board’s assessment of the future expectation of the operations. Key 
assumptions used in the estimate of value in use are as follows,

Discount rate 12.70%

Expected growth rate 3%

The recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiary assessed by the Board of Directors as at 31st December 2017 was MVR 
188,487,028/-.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

16 INVENTORIES  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Cost of Inventories 30,929 11,920 30,929 11,920

Less: Provision for Obsolete Inventories (Note 16.1) (13,521) (2,941) (13,521) (2,941)

17,408 8,979 17,408 8,979

16.1 Provision for Obsolete Inventories  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

As at 1st January 2,941 3,205 2,941 3,205

Provision made During the Year 10,580 64 10,580 64

Write back During the Year - (328) - (328)

As at 31st December 13,521 2,941 13,521 2,941

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Trade and Billing Receivables 285,208 322,702 285,208 318,975

Advances and Prepayments 13,994 16,666 13,994 16,635

Refundable Deposits 3,902 3,694 3,795 3,587

Advances Paid to Contract Services 2,889 2,889 2,749 2,749

Other Receivables 25,304 21,498 23,010 19,507

331,297 367,449 328,756 361,453

Less: Provision for Impairment of Trade Receivables (Note 17.1)

(83,122) (62,869) (82,982) (62,729)

248,175 304,580 245,774 298,724
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

17.1 Provision for Impairment on Trade Receivables  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

As at 1st January 62,869 54,234 62,729 54,094

Provision made During the Year 20,253 8,635 20,253 8,635

As at 31st December 83,122 62,869 82,982 62,729

18 AMOUNT DUE FROM RELATED PARTY  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Focus Infocom Private Limited 31,985 21,561 - -

19 INVESTMENTS  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Investments in Treasury  Bills 50,000 - 50,000 -

Investments in Fixed Deposits 498,223 782,590 357,000 662,464

548,223 782,590 407,000 662,464

Investments in fixed deposits and Investment in treasury bills are classified as Loans and Receivables and measured at amortized 
cost. the Interest rate of the deposits are ranging from 1.75% to 4% per annum and mature within one year.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Cash in Hand 2,331 821 2,331 821

Balances with Banks (Note 20.1) 1,173,442 262,498 1,138,935 252,206

1,175,773 263,319 1,141,266 253,027

Less : Balance not belong to the Group/ the Company  (Note 20.1) (341,803) - (341,803) -

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cash flow 833,970 263,319 799,463 253,027

20.1 The above balance with banks represents MVR 341,803,000/- held by the Company on behalf of its share holder Wataniya 
International Fz-LLC.

21 SHARE CAPITAL

21.1 Authorized

Authorized share capital comprises of 155,202,000 (2016: 1,552,020,000) ordinary shares.  All shares are at par value of MVR. 10/-  
(2016 : MVR 1/-) each.

21.2 Issued Share Capital

Issued share capital comprises of 147,800,401 (2016:  1,478,004,010)  ordinary shares. All shares are at par value of   MVR 10/- (2016: 
MVR 1/-) each.

21.3 Fully Paid Share Capital  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

As at 1st January 1,478,004 1,012,320 1,478,004 1,012,320

Transferred from Advance for Share Capital - 465,684 - 465,684

As at 31st December 1,478,004 1,478,004 1,478,004 1,478,004

21.4 Consolidation of Shares

Consequent to the resolution passed by the Board of Directors on 23rd March 2017 the Company has consolidated its shares where 
ten (10) shares became one (01) after the consolidation.

21.5 Dividends and Voting Rights

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to  one vote per 
share at the shareholders’ meetings of the Company.

The Board of Directors of the Company has approved a dividend of MVR. 2.75/- per share during the year ended 31st December 
2017. (2016: Nil)
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

22 RESERVE ON TRANSLATION OF SHARE CAPITAL

Consequent to the decision taken by the Board of Directors of the Group/ Company, the functional currency of the Group/ 
Company was changed from United States Dollar (US$) to Maldivian Rufiyaa (MVR.) with effect from 1st January 2014. The exchange 
difference arose from the translation of issued share capital as at 1st January 2014 was recognized in this reserve. This is an 
undistributable reserve.

23 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST  Group 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000”

As at 1st January 82,663 69,454

Share of net Result of the Subsidiary 21,988 13,209

As at 31st December 104,651 82,663

The Following summaries the information relating to WARF Telecom International Private Limited which is the subsidiary of the 
Company that has material Non-Controlling Interest (NCI), before any intra group eliminations,

2017 2016

MVR “000” MVR “000”

Non-Controlling Interest % 35% 35%

Non-Current Assets 97,800 83,211

Current Assets 213,982 159,308

Non-Current Liabilities (393) (394)

Current Liabilities (12,332) (5,887)

Net Assets 299,057 236,238

Net Assets Attributable to NCI 104,670 82,683

Revenue 84,663 83,391

Profit After Tax 62,820 37,742

Total Comprehensive Income 62,820 37,742

Profit Related to NCI 21,988 13,209

Net Cash from Operating Activities 42,214 51,201

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (18,000) (55,896)

Net increase/ (decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 24,214 (4,695)
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

24 LOANS AND BORROWINGS  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

As at 1st January 543,713 695,243 543,713 695,243

Borrowings During the Year 46,260 77,100 46,260 77,100

Repayments During the Year (253,982) (228,630) (253,982) (228,630)

As at 31st December 335,991 543,713 335,991 543,713

24.1 Sources of Finance

Term Loan I (Note 24.4) 30,840 86,523 30,840 86,523

Term Loan II (Note 24.5) 13,371 26,284 13,371 26,284

Demand Loan I - 3,834 - 3,834

Demand Loan II (Note 24.6) 1,946 23,130 1,946 23,130

Wataniya International Fz-LLC (Note 24.7) 249,742 403,942 249,742 403,942

Term Loan III  (Note 24.8) 40,092 - 40,092 -

335,991 543,713 335,991 543,713

 Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

24.2 Non - Current Liabilities 272,358 450,074 272,358 450,074

Repayment of non-current liabilities schedule is as follows:

More than one year, less than two years 269,274 403,942 269,274 403,942

More than two years, less than three years 3,084 46,132 3,084 46,132

272,358 450,074 272,358 450,074

24.3 Current Liabilities 63,633 93,639 63,633 93,639

24.4 Term Loan I

The Company has obtained a term loan facility of US$ 10,000,000/- out of which the Company has obtained US$ 6,000,000/- as at 
30th June 2015 and US$ 4,000,000/- as at 30th September 2015 at an interest rate of 1 month US$ LIBOR + 4.6% per annum. This loan 
capital is repayable within 36 equal monthly installments of US$ 277,778/- each (1 US$ = MVR. 15.42). The facility is secured by a 
fixed deposit amounting to MVR. 36,391,200/- in the name of the Company.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

24 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

24.5 Term Loan II

In accordance with the loan agreement dated 7th June 2016, the Company has obtained the term loan facility amounting to US$ 
2,000,000/- at an interest rate of 3% per annum or one month LIBOR + 3% (whichever is higher) for the purpose of working capital 
requirement. The loan capital is repayable within 30 equal monthly installments of US$ 66,667/- each (1 US$ = MVR. 15.42). The 
facility is secured by a current account deposit amounting to MVR. 15,777,932/- in the name of the Company.

24.6 Demand Loan II

The Company has obtained a demand loan of US$ 3,000,000/- on 7th January 2016 which required to be a period of 24 months 
at US$ 125,000/- each and interest to be paid monthly at 6% per annum. This loan is securred againts a fixed deposit of MVR. 
2,432,500/-.

24.7 Wataniya International Fz-LLC

This loan was obtained to facilitate working capital requirements of the Group. The Principal has to be repaid in full no later than 
31st March 2019. The total value of this loan facility is US$ 63,577,740/-. Annual interest is LIBOR + 3% for US$ 30,200,000/- and 
LIBOR + 5% for US$ 33,377,740/-. In accordance with the resolution dated 22nd April 2014, an amount of US$ 30,200,000/- (1 US$ = 
MVR. 15.42) out of this loan is transferred as advance for share capital.

24.8 Term Loan  III

In accordance with the loan agreement dated 1st August 2017, the Company has obtained the term loan facility amounting to US$ 
3,000,000/- at an interest rate of 3% per annum or one month LIBOR + 3% (whichever is higher) for the purpose of financing 4G/
LTE Expansion Project. The loan is repayable within 30 equal monthly installments of USD 100,000/- each (1 USD = MVR 15.42). The 
facility is secured by  a current account deposit with the condition that deposit shall be 118% of the amount outstanding under the 
term loan.

25 PROVISIONS  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

Network and Asset Retirement Obligation (Note 25.1) 15,164 18,158 15,164 18,158

Share Based payment arrangements (Note 25.2) 1,756 - 1,756 -

16,920 18,158 16,920 18,158
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

25 PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

25.1 Network and Assets Retirement Obligation

The provisions of network and asset retirement obligations represent the provisions made for the best estimate of the present 
value of the unavoidable future cost of dismantling and removing the items of property, plant and equipment and restoring the 
sites on which they are located. The following key assumptions have been used to calculate the network and asset retirement 
obligation.

 Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

As at 1st January 18,158 - 18,158 -

Provision made during the year 490 18,158 490 18,158

Unwinding of discount 1,215 - 1,215 -

Provision reversed during the Year (4,699) - (4,699) -

As at 31st December 15,164 18,158 15,164 18,158

Lease Period 15 Years  15 Years 15 Years  15 Years 

Discount Rate 10% 10% 10% 10%

Expected Future cost of escalation 3% 3% 3% 3%

25.2 Share based payment arrangements (Cash settled)

On 1st August 2017, the Company introduced a shadow share scheme as one time IPO incentive to all of its permanent staff 
members. The amount of cash payment is determined based on the average trading price of  the Company’s shares on the 
Maldives Stock Exchange for the 30 days preceding the vesting date of 31st July 2019.

        
         26 AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

National Mobile Telecommunication Company 148,219 148,219 148,219 148,219

Wataniya International Fz-LLC 708,001 368,113 708,001 368,113

Ooredoo Group LLC 3,474 7,419 3,474 7,419

Ooredoo IP LLC. 12,231 3,461 12,231 3,461

WARF Telecom International Private Limited - - 3,867 1,473

871,925 527,212 875,792 528,685
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

Trade Payables 113,782 80,038 108,189 79,928

Deferred Revenue 66,934 60,183 66,934 60,183

Equipment Suppliers and Contractors 3,304 8,215 3,304 8,215

Advances from Customers 14,911 12,245 14,911 12,245

Accruals and Provisions 240,252 240,589 240,252 240,589

Dividend Payable 331,814 - 331,814 -

Other Payables 20,034 18,285 15,894 14,755

791,031 419,555 781,298 415,915

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

Financial Risk Management

(i) Overview

The Group/ Company have exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk  

• Liquidity risk  

• Market risk  

This note presents information about the Group’s/ the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s/ the Company’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s/ the Company’s management of capital. 
Further, quantitative disclosures are included throughout these group’s/ the Company’s financial statements.

(ii)  Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s/ the Company’s risk 
management framework.
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(iii) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group/ the Company if a customer fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises 
principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum  credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date was:

 Group  Company 

Carrying Amount Carrying Amount

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

Trade and Other Receivables 314,414 347,894 312,013 342,069

Amount Due from Related Parties 31,985 21,561 - -

Balances with Banks 1,173,442 262,498 1,138,935 252,206

Investments in Fixed Deposits 498,223 782,590 357,000 662,464

 2,018,064  1,414,543  1,807,948  1,256,739 

Trade and Other Receivables

The Group’s/ the Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. There is 
no concentration of credit risk geographically.

The management has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness 
before the Group’s/ the Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Group/ the Company 
establishes a provision for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The 
provision for impairment represents the specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures.

Impairment Losses 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 Gross  Impairment  Gross  Impairment

Group MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

The aging of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was:

Not Past Due 183,678 - 102,546 -

Past Due 0-30 days 27,599 - 50,665 -

Past Due 31-120 days 45,023 25,009 60,500 10,819

Past Due 121-180 days 11,901 11,901 87,354 9,804

Past Due more than 181 days 46,212 42,246 46,829 42,246

314,414 79,156 347,894 62,869
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Impairment Losses 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

Company MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

The aging of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was:

Not Past Due 181,277 - 96,823 -

Past Due 0-30 days 27,599 - 50,562 -

Past Due 31-120 days 45,023 24,869 60,501 10,819

Past Due 121-180 days 11,901 11,901 87,354 9,804

Past Due more than 181 days 46,212 42,106 46,829 42,106

312,013 78,876 342,069 62,729

(iii) Credit Risk (Continued)

The movement in provision for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables is given in Note 17.1 to consolidated and 
separate financial statements.

The Group/ the Company believes that the unimpaired amounts that are outstanding are still collectible, based on historic 
payment behavior. Based  on  historic  default  rates,  the  group believes  that,  apart  from  the  above,  no provision for 
impairment  is  necessary.

(iv) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group/ the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s/ the Company’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s/ the Company’s reputation.

The followings are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at the year end.

31st December 2017

Group Carrying 0-12 1-2 2-5

Amount Months  Years  Years 

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

Financial Liabilities (Non- Derivative)

Trade and Other Payables 724,097 724,097 - -

Loans and Borrowings 335,991 63,633 269,274 3,084

Amounts Due to Related Parties 871,925 871,925 - -

1,932,013 1,659,655 269,274 3,084
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31st December 2016 Carrying 0-12 1-2 2-5

Amount Months  Years  Years 

Group MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

Financial Liabilities (Non- Derivative)

Trade and Other Payables 359,372 359,372 - -

Loans and Borrowings 543,713 93,639 403,942 46,132

Amounts Due to Related Parties 527,212 527,212 - -

1,430,297 980,223 403,942 46,132

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different 
amounts.

31st December 2017 Carrying 0-12 1-2 2-5

Amount Months  Years  Years 

Company MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

Financial Liabilities (Non - Derivative)

Trade and Other Payables 714,364 714,364 - -

Loans and Borrowings 335,991 63,633 269,274 3,084

Amounts Due to Related Parties 875,792 875,792 - -

1,926,147 1,653,789 269,274 3,084

31st December 2017 Carrying 0-12 1-2 2-5

Amount Months  Years  Years 

Company MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

Financial Liabilities (Non - Derivative)

Trade and Other Payables 355,732 355,732 - -

Loans and Receivables 543,713 93,639 403,942 46,132

Amounts Due to Related Parties 528,685 528,685 - -

1,428,130 978,056 403,942 46,132
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(v) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Group’s/ the 
Company’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return.

(a) Interest rate risk

Profile

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s/ the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

 Group  Company 

Carrying Amount Carrying Amount

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

Variable Rate Instruments

Financial Liabilities 335,991 543,713 335,991 543,713

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have decreased / (increased) the profit of the Group and 
Company by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain 
constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2016.

 Group  Company 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000” MVR “000”

100 Basis points increase in interest rate (3,360) (5,437) (3,360) (5,437)

100 Basis points decrease in interest rate 3,360 5,437 3,360 5,437
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Exposure to Currency Risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows based on notional 
amounts:

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Group US$ “000” Euro “000” US$ “000” Euro “000”

Cash and Cash Equivalents 13,429 1,151 9,034 985

Trade and Other Receivables 3,789 - 6,308 -

Trade and Other Payables 6,394 - 5,148 -

Gross statement of financial position exposure 23,612 1,151 10,194 985

Company

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows based on notional amounts:

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

US$ “000” Euro “000” US$ “000” Euro “000”

Cash and Cash Equivalents 12,174 985 8,793 985

Trade and Other Receivables 3,789 - 6,308 -

Trade and Other Payables 6,394 - 5,148 -

Gross statement of financial position exposure 22,357 985 9,953 985

The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:

Average Rate Reporting Date Spot 
Rate

2017 2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

1 MVR. : US$ 0.065 0.065 0.065 0.065

1 MVR. : Euro 0.071 0.062 0.079 0.062
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(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF MALDIVES)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017

29 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING DATE

No circumstances have arisen since reporting date which require adjustments to / or disclosure in the consolidated and separate 
financial statements.

30 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

The Company is the parent Company for the following subsidiary company,

Country of 
Incorporation  No. of Shares  Shareholding 

2017 2016 2017 2016

WARF Telecom International Private Limited Republic of 
Maldives 211,331,250 211,331,250 65% 65%

31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no contingent liabilities outstanding as at the reporting date, which require disclosure in the consolidated and separate 
financial statements.

32 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Comparative figures have been reclassified wherever appropriate to confirm with the current year presentation.

33 COMMITMENTS

33.1 Capital Commitments

The Group/ the Company have entered into contract to purchase / construct property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
of MVR. 159,727,377/- as at 31st December 2017 (2016: MVR. 78,259,414/-).

33.2 Operating lease Commitments

The Group has a number of operating leases over properties for erection of communication towers and offices. The lease 
expenditure charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year is disclosed under cost of revenue. 

Minimum operating lease commitments under the leases are as follows;

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

MVR “000” MVR “000”

Not later than one year 12,532 7,912

Later than one year but not later than five years 51,282 77,143

Later than five years 50,079 60,305

113,893 145,360

34 DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Director’s of the Company is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements.
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OOREDOO MALDIVES PLC
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Name of the
Related Party Relationship Nature of the

Transaction  Amount  Balance Outstanding 
Due from/ (to)

31/12/2017 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

 MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000”  MVR “000” 

Ooredoo Group LLC Affiliate
Company

Expenses on Behalf (11,325) (12,893) (3,474) (7,419)

Repayment 15,270 12,311

Ooredoo IP LLC Affiliate
Company

Brand license fee (27,124) (15,742) (12,231) (3,461)

Repayment 18,354 13,901

Ooredoo Kuwait Intermediate
Parent

No Transactions - - (148,219) (148,219)

Wataniya International
Fz-LLC

Immediate
Parent
Company

Management Fee (51,381) (44,039) (708,001) (368,113)

Interest Accrual (20,288) (27,574)

IPO Proceeds (421,358) -

Repayment 153,139 43,050

Focus Infocom
Private Limited

Affiliate
Company

Lease Line Charges 23,079 26,152 31,985 21,561

Repayment (12,655) (26,897)

35.1 Transactions with Key Management Personnel

The Board of Directors of the Group/ the Company are the members of the key management personnel. The Group/ the Company 
have not paid any emoluments to the key management personnel during the year ended 31st December 2017 (2016: Nil).

36 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s/ the Company’s operations are solely providing Telecommunication Services in the Maldives. The operations of the 
Group/ the Company are looked at as a single operating segment.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) of the Group/ the Company is the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Managing 
Director of the Group/ the Company. The CEO and Managing Director considers the performance of the Group/ the Company as a 
whole considering the total operations of the Group/ the Company as one segment in assessing the performance of the Group/ the 
Company and making decisions about the resource allocation within the Organization.
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Corporate Information
Name of the Company
Ooredoo Maldives Public Limited Company

Company Registration Number
C-0633/2004

Legal Form of the Company 
A company incorporated in the Republic 
of Maldives on 7th December 2004, as 
Wataniya Telecom Maldives Private 
Limited, which then changed its name 
to Ooredoo Maldives Private Limited on 
22nd December 2013, and subsequently 
converted to a public limited liability 
company on 6th October 2016. 

Company Secretary
Uza. Dheena Hussain
M. Maalimeege, Fiyaathoshi Magu, 
Male’, Republic of Maldives 

External Counsel 
Shah, Hussain & Co. Barristers and 
Attorneys,
6th Floor, Aagé,
12 Boduthakurufaanu Magu, Henveiru,
Malé 20094,
Maldive Islands
Tel.: +960 333 3644
Fax: +960 331 5453
Responsible Lawyer: Uza. Dheena Hussain

General Counsel 
Uza. Yudhra Abdul Latheef
Head of Legal
Ooredoo Maldives Plc

Auditors
KPMG (Chartered Accountants)
2nd Floor, H. Mialani, Sosun Magu
Male’, Republic of Maldives
Tel: +960 331 0420
Fax: +960 332 3175

Bankers
Bank of Maldives Plc
BML Head Office,
11, Boduthakurufaanu Magu,
Malé,
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (+960) 332 2948
Fax: (+960) 332 8233
Email: info@bml.com.mv
www.bankofmaldives.com.mv

State Bank of India
H. Sunleet, Gadhage Mohamed Fulhu 
Building
Boduthakurufaanu Magu,
Malé,
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (+960) 331 2111
Fax: (+960) 332 3053
Email: sbimale@statebank.com
www.sbimaldives.com

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation Limited
MTCC Tower,
4, Boduthakurufaanu Magu,
Malé,
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (+960) 333 0770
Fax: (+960) 331 2072
Email: hsbcmaldives@hsbc.com.lk
www.hsbc.com.hk

Maldives Islamic Bank Private Limited
H. Coconut Villa
Ameeru Ahmed Magu,
Malé,
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (+960) 332 5555
Fax: (+960) 300 7885
Email: info@mib.com.mv
www.mib.com.mv

The Mauritius Commercial Bank 
(Maldives) Private Limited
H. Shifa Building
Boduthakurufaanu Magu,
Malé,
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (+960) 330 5656
Fax: (+960) 330 5757
Email: contact@mcbmaldives.com
www.mcbmaldives.com

Commercial Bank of Maldives Private 
Limited
H. Filigasdhoshuge,
Ameeru Ahmed Magu,
Male’,
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (+960) 333 2668
Fax: (+960) 330 2668
Email: info@cbmmv.com
www.cbmmv.com

Habib Bank Limited
H. Thuniya, Ground and 1st Floor
Boduthakurufaanu Magu,
Malé,
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (+960) 332 2052
Fax: (+960) 332 6791
Email: habibmle@dhinet.net.mv
www.hbl.com

Bank of Ceylon
Aage,
12 Boduthakurufaanu Magu,
Malé,
Republic of Maldives
Tel: (+960) 332 3045
Fax: (+960) 332 0575
Email: bcmale@dhivehinet.net.mv
www.boc.lk
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Shareholding Structure (at 31st December 2017)

Name No. of Shares @ MVR 10/-  %

Wataniya International FZ-LLC 133,755,130 4,012,653,900 90.5%

Other 14,045,271 421,358,130 9.5%

Total Issued 147,800,401 4,434,012,030 100%

Authorised Capital (MVR) 51,734,000 1,552,020,000

Paid-up Capital (MVR) 4,434,012,030

Premium (MVR) 0

Contact Information
Head Office:
Ooredoo Maldives PLC, 
PO Box 2196
5th Floor, H. Sunleet, Gadhage Mohamed 
Fulhu Building, 
Boduthakurufaanu Magu, 
Male’, Republic of Maldives

T: +960 961 1000
F: +960 961 1001
E:  929@ooredoo.mv
W: www.ooredoo.mv
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